#### CISCO NEXUS 9200 ROBUSTNESS REDESIGN

A Senior Project submitted to the Faculty of California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science in Industrial & Manufacturing Engineering

by Ethan Gold, Colin Berge, Cole Christophersen, Rahul Makhijani June 14, 2019

#### ABSTRACT Cisco Nexus 9200 Robustness Redesign Ethan Gold, Colin Berge, Cole Christopherson, Rahul Makhijani

Certain configurations of Cisco's Nexus 9200 product experienced issues with bending during shipping. Two solutions were developed to eliminate this problem: an external brace that could quickly address the problem yet was expensive and unsustainable, and a redesigned chassis, which was more economical but came with a longer time to implement. Real world packaging and shipping conditions were simulated in SolidWorks and Finite Element Analysis was used to model the stresses experienced when the product is dropped. Both designs were found to significantly reduce stress in critical areas, thus reducing the chance of failure and the cost of the problem. We recommend Cisco implement the external brace to fill the time until the redesigned top of the chassis is implemented, both of these will reduce failures and slash the cost of replacing failed units.



Figure 1: Short Term Solution, Nexus 9200 with External Brace Attached



Figure 2: Long Term Solution, Nexus 9200 with Various Chassis Enforcements

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is a great pleasure to thank our project sponsor Cisco Systems for providing our senior project team with a legitimate industry problem. Being given the opportunity to put our problem solving skills to use, reinforce our communication skills with respected members of their company and acquire new skills throughout this process was very rewarding.

First of all, we would like to thank our Cisco contact, Christine Nolan-Brady, an employee of the Test and Quality department. Without her continuous guidance, access to Cisco information, and connection to the teams that work on the Nexus 9200, our project would not have been completed in a manner that it was.

Second, our team way instructed by Dr. Tali Freed and Roy Jafari, Industrial & Manufacturing Professors at California Polytechnic State University. With their support and advising our team stayed on task and was able to meet deadlines.

Thirdly, there is credit due to the numerous Cal Poly professors that aided our team in solution design as well as Finite Element Analysis design and validation. These professors are Trian Georgeau, IME, who helped with solution designs an initial FEA simulation design. Dr. Peter Schuster, Mechanical Engineering, & Dr. Garett Hall, Civil Engineering, who aided our simulation design and validation methods.

Finally, Henry Lee, a Cisco expert in FEA, who informed our group on the use of FEA and also validated the design of our model.

These great people all helped our group learn, grow and provide Cisco with options for their future designs of the Nexus 9200.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Abstract	2
2.	Acknowledgements	3
3.	Introduction and Background	10
4.	Problem Description	12
	3.1 Current State	12
	3.2 Potential Causes	15
	3.3 Economic Evaluation of Current State	16
5.	Literature Review	19
	4.1 Current State Baseline	19
	4.1.1 Root Cause Analysis	19
	4.1.2 Packaging Analysis & Current State	20
	4.1.3 Finite Element Method	21
	4.1.4 Model Validation	22
	4.2 Expert Knowledge	23
	4.2.1 Drop Test Design	23
	4.2.2 Brainstorm of Solution Design	23
	4.2.3 FEA Design & Validation	23
6.	Solution Design	25
	5.1 Design Constraints	25
	5.2 Design Process	25
	5.3 Designs Considered	26
	5.3.1 Lateral Beads	26
	5.3.2 Front to Back Beads	27

	27
5.3.3 External Brace	27
5.3.4 Rearranged Front Supports	29
5.3.5 Thicker Top	30
5.3.6 New Foam Contact Pattern	30
7. Test & Evaluation of Designs	31
6.1 FEA Model	31
6.1.1 Software	31
6.1.2 Simulation Type	31
6.1.3 Test Setup	32
6.1.4 3D Model	33
6.1.5 Mesh	34
6.1.6 Connectors	35
6.1.7 Contacts	35
6.1.8 Fixtures	35
6.1.9 Material Properties	35
6.2 Model Validation	36
6.2.1 Roark's Formulas	36
6.2.2 Solution Boundaries	37
6.3 Comparison of Alternatives	38
6.3.1 Robustness	38
6.3.2 Economics	41
6.3.2 Implementation Time	41
6.3.4 Sustainability	42
6.4.5 Solution Selection Method	42
6.4 Additional Experiments	44

8. Conclusion & Recommendations	46
7.1 Short Term Solution	46
7.1.1 Description of Solution	46
7.1.2 Solution Justification	46
7.1.3 Implementation Plan	47
7.1.4 Economics of Design	47
7.1.5 Conformance to Standards	48
7.2 Long Term Solution	48
7.2.1 Description of Solution	49
7.2.2 Solution Justification	49
7.2.3 Implementation Plan	50
7.2.4 Economics of Design	50
7.3 Recommendations	51
9. Future Directions	52
8.1 Implementation of Results	52
8.2 Improvements to the Project	52
10. Project Analysis	53
9.1 Project Management Analysis	53
9.2 Client Communication Analysis	53
9.3 Teamwork Analysis	53
11. Bibliography	54
10.1 Sources.	54
10.2 References	54

# LIST OF TABLES

1. Number of Damaged Nexus 9200s per year	17
2. Yearly Cost of Nexus 9200 Damage	17
3. Profit Margins Regular 1RU	18
4. Impact on Profit Margin - Damaged 1RU	18
5. Package Test Data - 30 Inch Drop	20
6. Package Test Data - 36 Inch Drop	21
7. Material Properties For Sheet Metal and PCB	37
8. Average Standardized Qualities for AHP of Robustness	41
9. Standardized Robustness Score for Each Solution Alternative	41
10. Analytical Hierarchy Process Standardized Qualities for Short Term Solution	43
11. Standardized Scores of Short Term Solutions	44
12. Standardized Qualities for Long Term AHP	44
13. Standardized Alternative Values for Long Term AHP	45
14. Breakdown of External Brace Cost Estimate	50
15. Basic Parameters of ASTM D5276 Standard	50
16. Breakdown of Thicker Sheet Metal Cost Estimate	53
17. Meetings	56

# LIST OF FIGURES

1. Short Term Solution, Nexus 9200 with External Brace Attached	2
2. Long Term Solution, Nexus 9200 with Various Chassis Enforcements	2
3. CAD Front view of a Nexus 9200	10
4. CAD View of Nexus 9200 with Top Cover Reinforcements	10
5. Front View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis	12
6. Top View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis	13
7. Rear View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis	14
8. Front of Bent 9200 Chassis	14
9. Nexus 9200 Chassis with Damaged Front Ports	15
10. Fishbone Diagram of Potential Causes of Deformation	15
11. Process Due to Damaged Unit Including Costs Incurred	16
12. Current Packaging	19
13. Current Top Cover with Beads	20
14. Coarse vs. Fine Mesh for H & P Refinement	22
15. Hand Calculation Method Used & Maximum Stress Formula	23
16. Corrugated Metal	26
17. Design with 2 Lateral Beads, Top Down View	27
18. Design with 8 Lateral Beads, Top Down View	27
19. Design with 4 Front to Back Beads, Top Down View	28
20. External Brace Fitted to Nexus 9200	29
21. Design with Rearranged Front Supports	29
22. Current Design with Unchanged Front Supports	29
23. Design with 0.0456'' Thick Top Cover	30
24. Current Bottom Foam Supports vs New Bottom Foam Supports	31

25. Current Top Foam Supports vs New Top Foam Supports	31
26. Drop Test Data of Top Up and Top Down Drop (Left to Right)	33
27. Free Body Diagram of Static Approximation	34
28. Original Vs. Simplified Model (Left to Right)	34
29. Aspect Ratio Heat Map Top and Bottom View	35
30. Aspect Ratio Heat Map Inside View	36
31. Results from Base Model Up - Location 2	38
32. Stress Strain Curve Of Foam Compared with Other Approximations	39
33. Sites of High Stress on Base Model	40
34. Top Up and Top Down Drops of Base Model (Left to Right)	40
35. No PCB Fea Model	45
36. Foam Orientation FEA Model	46
37. CAD Render of External Brace Attached to Chassis	48
38. Top Down Drop Results: Base Model vs. Short Term Solution	49
39. CAD Render of Long Term Solution Design	51
40. Top Down Drop Results: Base Model vs. Long Term Solution	52

#### 2. Introduction and Background

In 2018, Cisco started receiving reports that some Nexus 9200 switches were showing up to customer sites deformed. The deformation restricted customers ability to install the switches and open them up for maintenance. Cisco addressed the problem by reinforcing the top of the units, modifying the foam packaging, and creating a separate compartment in the box to store accessories, which were thought to contribute to the damage. Though this successfully eliminated the problem, the Cisco Test & Quality team reached out to the Cal Poly IME (Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering) department to get a second opinion in the form of a senior project.



Figure 3: CAD Front view of a Nexus 9200



Figure 4: CAD View of Nexus 9200 with Top Cover Reinforcements

The Cal Poly team was asked to develop a solution for these products as well as develop guidelines for designing future products that would identify designs prone to failure and increase their durability. As changes to the products would take a long time to implement, the team decided to break our solution into two parts. The first was a short term solution, external to the product itself, that could be implemented quickly. The second was a long term, sustainable solution which would require product changes and thus take longer to implement.

The Nexus 9200 product line is a family of rack mounted switches. A switch is a computer networking device that receives, processes, and shares data between devices on a network. The "rack mounted" designation means it is specifically made to be housed in a server rack, a cabinet made to hold servers that provide power and internet capabilities. These products are typically installed in server racks on rails that allow the units to slide in and out easily for service.

When the problem existed, Cisco replaced each failed unit and shipped the damaged ones back for failure analysis by engineers. This meant that for each failure, Cisco was incurring the costs of manufacturing and shipping two units to the customer as well as reverse shipping the damaged one back. These failures resulted in an additional cost of approximately \$X,XXX,XXX per year, or roughly \$8.30 per unit sold.

# 3. Problem Description

This section describes the current state of the issue, discusses potential causes, and explains the economic impact of leaving the issue unresolved.

### 3.1 Current State

Despite the original design passing Cisco testing procedures, Nexus 9k chassis were becoming deformed during shipping. Specifically, the top and bottom sheet metal covers would become concave down, resulting in a chassis that appeared to look like it was "frowning." The effects of the deformation ranged from aesthetic to impeding installation and maintenance.

An original, undamaged Nexus 9200 chassis appears as follows:



Figure 5: Front View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis



Figure 6: Top View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis



Figure 7: Rear View of Physical Nexus 9200 Chassis

On the contrary, an example of a chassis that was damaged during shipping can be found below. The white arrow on the image is pointing to the bent chassis.



Figure 8: Front of Bent Nexus 9200 Chassis

Furthermore, an example of a chassis that experienced damage to the SFP ports on the front of the chassis can be found in Figure 7 below.



Figure 9: Nexus 9200 Chassis with Damaged Front Ports

Damage occurring to the SFP ports would prevent cables from plugging in, and thus instances such as these would prevent the chassis from being fully usable.

# 3.2 Potential Causes

The team analyzed the issue from three perspectives - product, packaging, and process - and after several meetings with our stakeholders, brainstormed potential reasons for the failures and put them into a fishbone diagram.



Figure 10: Fishbone Diagram of Potential Causes of Deformation

From a product standpoint, the top and bottom metal covers were not strong enough to withstand stress garnered from shipping. The spacing and design of the front supports caused them to overload and buckle during shipping.

From a packaging perspective, it was possible that the foam was not supporting the chassis in the appropriate way. Cisco conducted a case study and discovered that sometimes the packagers of the units were inappropriately placing accessory items (cables, power supplies, etc.) directly on top of the chassis rather than in the designated slots. These items were hitting the chassis during shipping and likely contributed to bending.

Finally, from a process perspective, there was a possibility that the tolerances of the sheet metals were adding a preloaded stress to the top cover upon assembly. This could have been happening when the space between the top and bottom covers was at a maximum based on their acceptable tolerances and the metals were being forced together with screws.

Cisco saw its deformed units with a select number of buyers who were using third party logistics that were shipping individual units at a time. There are many factors that went into if a unit deformed or not, but it was acknowledged that these factors were only an issue in the most extreme circumstances. For this reason, a root cause analysis was outside the scope of this project and the team focused solely on product redesigns to increase the robustness of the chassis.

# 3.3 Economic Evaluation of Current State

A flow diagram of the process that occurred for each damaged unit, as well as the costs associated with it, is shown in Figure 11 below. Processes are shown in blue and costs are shown in red.



Figure 11: Process Due to Damaged Unit Including Costs Incurred

Cisco incurred four additional costs with every damaged chassis. There was the cost of manufacturing a new unit, rush shipping the customer the new unit, reverse logistics for the damaged unit, and reputational damage to its noteworthy name and brand. Reputational damage can open up avenues for competitors to capitalize with a powerful go-to-market strategy and competitive advantage.

At a production rate of XXX,XXX units per year, and an estimated defect rate of X% (provided by Cisco), an estimated XXX Nexus 9200's per year were experiencing deformation (Table 1).

Number of Damaged Units per Year		
Name	Value	Formula
Total # of Units Manufactured per Quarter		*given
Total # of Units Manufactured per Year		Total Manufactured/Quarter x 4
Defect Rate		*given
Number of Damaged Units per Year		(Total Manufactured/Year) x (Defect Rate/100)

### Table 1: Number of Damaged Nexus 9200s per year

Accounting for the associated costs with every damaged unit, the estimated total cost of the problem was \$X,XXX,XXX per year and increased the overall unit cost by \$8.30 per unit (Table 2).

Cost of Overall Problem		
Name	Value	Formula
Number of Damaged Units per Year		*see previous table
Fully Allocated System Cost of one IRU		*given
Shipping Cost of one IRU from CM, DF		*given
Cost of Reverse Logistics (one 1RU back to Cisco)		*given
Total COGS to Cisco per Damaged Unit		System Cost + Shipping Cost + Reverse Logistical Cost
Total Cost of Overall Problem		Total Cost to Cisco/Unit x Number of Damaged Units per Year

# Table 2: Yearly Cost of Nexus 9200 Damage

Another calculation of interest was the effect that each damaged 1RU unit had on the profit margins associated with the sale. According to Cisco, the average sale price of each 1RU unit was approximately \$XX,XXX. Given that the cost of manufacturing and shipping each 1RU was approximately \$X,XXX, the profit generated from each undamaged 1RU was approximately \$XX,XXX. It should be noted that this estimate fails to include costs associated with direct labor and overhead which would drastically decrease profit margins. These numbers were unobtained due to limited access to factory and company information. Regardless, the calculation for the overall estimate can be found in Table 3 below.

Profit Margins: Regular 1RU		
Name	Value	Formula
Revenue		*given
COGS		System Cost + Shipping Cost
Net Profit		Revenue - Total Cost

Table 5. Front Margins Regular TRU	Table	3:	Profit	Margins	Regular	1RU
------------------------------------	-------	----	--------	---------	---------	-----

On the contrary, the total COGS associated with each damaged 1RU increased to \$X,XXX. This cut the net profit generated from each damaged 1RU down to \$XX,XXX and thus reduced the total profit margin by -7.72%. The calculation for that estimate can be in Table 4 below.

Profit Margins: Damaged 1RU		
Name	Value	
Revenue		*given
COGS		(2 x System Cost) + (2 x Shipping Cost) + Reverse Logsitical Cost
Net Profit		Revenue - Total Cost
Impact on Margins:	-7.72%	[(19830 - 21490) / 21490] x 100

 Table 4: Impact on Profit Margin - Damaged 1RU
 Impact on Profit Margin - Damaged 1RU

Again, as previously mentioned, these financial estimates do not include costs associated with overhead and direct labor. However, it should also be noted that the -7.72% impact on profit margins is a best case scenario; factoring in increased costs of direct labor and overhead would cut margins even further.

### 4. Literature Review

This section is composed of reports put out by Cisco and textbooks relevant to the packaging and simulation method used within our project. Also contained in this section is the information and guidance received from three Cal Poly, San Luis Obispo professors and Henry Lee of Cisco.

# 4.1 Literature Review

The literature reviewed was a case study performed by Cisco, package test reports done by Cisco, textbooks on packaging dynamics and stress, strain calculations and finally a lecture on the Finite Element Method.

### 4.1.1 Root Cause Analysis

In order to establish practical design changes our team needed to know about the current design of Cisco's Nexus 9200. In January 2019, a case study was performed to investigate the root cause of the bent chassis and damaged SFP ports. Cisco discovered that improper packaging was the root of this cause of bending. By placing accessories on the top cover of the chassis and dropping the package from an increased drop height, 36 inches, Cisco was able to replicate the bending damage seen by customers. To solve this issue Cisco decided to prevent this issue by adding additional packaging space for the accessories (Figure 12). Drop testing the new packaging, with accessories placed off of the chassis (green), prevented the bending damage.



Figure 12: Current Packaging

Cisco investigated the SFP port damage by measuring the durability of chassis surrounding the SFP ports. It was observed that the chassis surrounding the SFP ports can only withstand a 30 lbs force before deflection, compared to the 80lbs the area surrounding the QSFP ports. Two horizontal beads, above the SFP ports, were added in an attempt to increase the chassis durability. Our focus will be strengthening the areas of maximum stress in top cover and sheet metal surrounding SFP ports.



Figure 13: Current Top Cover with Beads

### 4.1.2 Packaging Dynamics & Current State

Understanding the current packaging used to protect the Nexus 9200 is vital to understanding the quantity of force the product will need to be capable of withstanding. Packaging test reports were shared by Cisco detailing vibration and drop testing on the Nexus 9200 chassis. Their purpose was to inspect their current packaging's ability to protect their product from physical damage. The packaging passed both drop and vibration tests. These reports provided insight as what type of drop results in the greatest force acting on the product.

In test 1 and 8 of both designs we observe the two maximum accelerations, in G's, exerted on the chassis comes from drops on the top and bottom of the packaging. The chassis was dropped from a height of 36 inches and experienced a force of 57.6 & 46.2 G's when upright and 60.4 G's & 74.6 G's upside down (Tables 5 and 6).

		TRANSMITTED DECELERATION - G's				
Test #	Pkg. Orientation	x-axis (side-side)	y-axis (front-back)	z-axis (top-bottom)		
1	Base down (3)		-,-	46.2		
2	Side (4)	34.7	-,-	-,-		
3	End (5)		32.2	-,-		
4	Corner 3-4-5	12.8	13.9	4.1		
5	Edge 4-5	15.0	20.7	-,-		
6	Edge 3-5	-,-	29.1	10.4		
7	Edge 3-4	28.2		12.6		
8	Top down (1)			74.6		
9	Side (2)	35.2	-,-	-,-		
10	End (6)		32.8	-,-		
11	Corner 1-2-6	15.3	15.0	7.8		
12	Edge 2-6	15.8	20.0	-,-		
13	Edge 1-6		31.2	13.3		
14	Edge 1-2	32.5	-,-	19.0		

SUMMARY OF PACKAGE IMPACT	TEST	DATA
Drop Height = 30"		

\* Manufacturer's joint: Edge 2-\*\* All data filtered at 330 Hz

Table 5: Package Test Data - 30 Inch Drop

Test # Pkg Orientation		TRANSMITTED DECELERATION - G's x-axis (side-side) v-axis (front-back) z-axis (top-botto			
1	Base down (3)	21.1	18.6	57.6	
2	Side (4)	37.5	14.4	7.9	
3	End (5)	7.4	45.3	6.7	
4	Corner 3-4-5	15.1	25.6	4.0	
5	Edge 4-5	N/A	N/A	N.A	
6	Edge 3-5	14.14	48.1	10.4	
7	Edge 3-4	35.9		11.9	
8	Top down (1)	15.9	11.9	60.4	
9	Side (2)	42.3	13.6	4.8	
10	End (6)	8.8	48.8	7.8	
11	Corner 1-2-6	11.6	28.2	6.3	
12	Edge 2-6	21.6	39.2		
13	Edge 1-6	10,0	49.2	8.9	
14	Edge 1-2	38.7		17.6	

#### SUMMARY OF PACKAGE IMPACT TEST DATA Drop Height = 36"

#### Additional Drops

Test #	Pkg. Orientation	x-axis (side-side)	y-axis (front-back)	z-axis (top-bottom)
1	Base down (3)	17.6	7.9	49.2
2	Side (4)	33.8	5.3	3.9
3	End (5)	3.5	33.9	3.2
4	Corner 3-4-5	15.9	19.1	8.8
5	Edge 4-5	16.7	21.6	
6	Edge 3-5	2,21	33.2	6.7
7	Edge 3-4	23.1		17.2

\*\* All data filtered at 330 Hz



Measurements were taken by an accelerometer placed in the middle, left side of the chassis. These numbers will be used to set a baseline for the minimum robustness that a chassis needs to be in order to be considered acceptable. The proposed design solution will have to be drop tested and record lower numbers to the top and bottom covers in order to verify our simulation.

To further understand how a drop test is run and the units of measure (G's) we reviewed <u>Protective Packaging for Distribution: Design and Development</u>, by Daniel Goodwin and Dennis Young. Testing for drops can be done using a Precision Drop Tester (PDT) using ASTM D5276 Standards. Based on package weight and assurance level drop height is determined. Standard drop height is 36 inches. Orientation is also key to a drop test. All sides, edges and corners are eligible to be dropped on. Selection of these is based on the area of interest. Our areas of interest are the top and bottom of the package. The motion the package and product experiences during a drop is shock. Shocks can occur anytime during loading, unloading, sorting and shipping. Shock is measured as a vector quantity G (G = acceleration/deceleration/force of gravity). Fragility is defined as the minimum G-Force the product that causes the product to be considered damaged. A Vertical Shock Test System can be used to test fragility according to ASTM D3332.

### 4.1.3 Finite Element Method

In order to test numerous packaging and product designs, without spending the money on manufacturing, the team conducted a simulation in SolidWorks using Finite Element Method. Having no previous experience or training with Finite Element Analysis the team needed to learn what it was, how it worked and how drop testing could be simulated within SolidWorks. To develop our understanding of this software, Cisco provided us with an informative lecture, Introduction to Finite Element Analysis & Tools. FEA is a useful simulation tool because it simplifies complicated parts into small finite elements that can be processed by a computer.

Using matrix equations to solve for stress, strain and displacement within these finite elements, FEA constructs an approximation of reality.

The key to conducting a FEA experiment is a valid base model. The outputs of a smultation are only as good as its input. Thus, the proper parameters needed to be defined. Each part within the SolidWorks Assembly needed to be broken into simple shapes (meshed). All parts needed to be constrained to represent the physical product and the supporting packaging needed to be defined. Upon the proper design of the previous three parameters the base model was validated with a comparison between simulation results and hand calculations. The base model of the current design was used as a baseline to compare the results of new designs to the current design. While the accuracy of the individual model is subject to question, with precision and consistency in the modeling of new designs comparisons could be drawn between the design alternatives.

To accurately model a drop test in FEA we need to define the mesh of all parts with an element type and size. Element types in our model are either a shell or a solid tetrahedral. Shells are a simplified solid part that represent the shell of the part. A mesh determines the number of elements in each part. As the mesh is refined the model becomes more and more accurate. There are two methods of refinement. H refinement uses many simple elements. To refine the mesh these simple elements are divided in half to better approximate the solution. P refinement uses few complex elements and improves output accuracy by increasing the complexity of each element. Figure 14 provided a graphic on the difference between a coarse mesh vs. a fine mesh for the two methods of refinement. We refined our model using the H method.



Figure 14: Coarse vs. Fine Mesh for H & P Refinement

# 4.1.4 Model Validation

The biggest take away from our accelerated FEA course was that our base model needed to be valid, or represent the real world. One validation step was measuring if the FEA results were within 20-30% of the Roark's Formula hand calculations. Using <u>Roark's Formulas for Stress and Strain</u> (Figure 15), we compared the maximum stress along the front edge of the chassis between our hand calculation and our FEA results. Upon finding that these numbers were within 20-30% error we were one step closer to validating our base model.



Figure 15: Hand Calculation Method Used & Maximum Stress Formula

# 4.2 Expert Knowledge

Three Cal Poly professors and Henry Lee of Cisco guided our solution design, FEA design, constraints and validation throughout this project.

# 4.2.1 Drop Test Design

Dr. Peter Schuster, a mechanical engineering professor at California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, guided the initial design of our FEA simulation on the SolidWorks model. In our attempt to simulate a drop test he proposed we replicate the Top Up and Bottom Up drop, similar to Cisco's packaging studies.

# 4.2.2 Brainstorm of Solution Design

Professor Georgeau also aided us in the brainstorming of solution designs. He informed us on potential features that could be added to the manufacturing process such as beading and ribbing. Beading is a raise or sink in a portion of sheet metal that is manufactured with stamping or dies. Its purpose is to increase rigidity in the sheet metal cover of the chassis. Ribbing is used internally and is placed on the corners of the chassis to provide structural support and prevent bending.

# 4.2.3 FEA Design & Validation

Dr. Peter Schuster a Cal Poly Mechanical Engineering Professor, Dr. Garrett Hall a Cal Poly Civil Engineering Professor and Henry Lee an Engineer at Cisco aided our group in FEA test design, and validation.

Dr. Garrett Hall guided our team through design. Initially, our group was focused on conducting a drop test within FEA. Being that we would need to simulate a dynamic environment our simulation time spanned 80 days for one model. Dr. Hall recommended our group use a linear static model. A linear static model kept the product fixed in time. Instead simulating dropping the package, we applied a gravitational force to the model to approximate the force the package experienced during a drop test. This method would be applied to both the Top Up and Bottom Up drops. The acceleration applied was 30 G's.

Dr. Peter Schuster aided our team in simplification of our model and properly fixing the model. The product has many parts that contribute to its function, but add little structural support. By removing numerous parts that were not required for the simulations function and representing them with forces our simulation time was reduced. The simplified model contained the top and bottom covers, the main PCB, and the sheet metal components on the backside of the chassis; there were a total of 11 parts modeled. Also, Dr. Schuster provided insight as to how to simulate bolts and rivets on the chassis.

Henry Lee was very helpful in providing information to the team. Mr. Lee provided insight on simplifying our model's mesh and validation of our results. By simplifying the mesh of the sheet metal cover that the force was being applied to a shell instead of a solid, we simplified our model. Also, Henry Lee provided a method to validate our results. He recommended using Roark's Formulas for stress and strain to compare hand calculations results for stress to results found in our model. If these numbers were within 30 percent, our model was considered valid.

### 5. Solution Design

Our goal was to create comprehensive solutions that did not affect the functionality of the unit and eliminated all failures. The design criteria that Cisco provided allowed us to narrow our focus by ruling out designs that would not be feasible. Examples of these included designs which changed the overall dimensions of the unit, the mounting style of the top cover, the clearance from the internal components, and/or involved packaging changes. Thus, we decided to focus our attention on strengthening the top and bottom covers since they create the main structure of the product. Additionally, we decided to produce two different solutions: a short term solution which could immediately address the problem in a matter of weeks and a long term solution that was more cost effective, but would require longer to implement.

### 5.1 Design Constraints

We faced several different constraints that we needed to adhere to when developing our solutions. First, overall dimensions could not be modified since this product comes in an industry standard size of 1RU (1 Rack Unit) to ensure fit into any server rack the customer buys. The maximum dimensions of a 1RU sized chassis are approximately 1.75" height x 17.5" wide with varying depths. Additionally, the screw pattern used to attach the top cover was specifically designed to prevent EMI (electromagnetic interference) from other components, which could stop the unit from turning on. Changing how the top cover is attached would require knowledge of electrical engineering that is beyond our scope. Furthermore, all of the electrical components in the unit require clearance from the metal chassis to prevent short circuiting and to protect against impacts, so clearances could not be modified. Finally, strategically modifying the packaging would require a deep understanding of packaging engineering, so we decided to leave it as is.

### 5.2 Design Process

We conducted two rounds of design and simulation. In both rounds, our objective was to increase and improve the rigidity of the unit as well as decrease the stress it experiences during shipping. Using expert advice and knowledge gained from our literature review, our first design round focused on modifying and/or adding various features to the top cover as well as developing an external brace to support the chassis. After running simulations on the first round designs, the best performing designs were kept and tweaked based on their performance. The way testing and recording data was improved for the second round of testing.



Figure 16: Corrugated Metal

When developing the second round of designs, Professor Georgeou suggested beading as a low cost feature that would add strength and rigidity. In the same way the shape of corrugated metal is the source of its strength, beading strengthens surrounding areas by leaving indentations that can prevent bending. This wave shape is only strong when bending perpendicular to the cross section of the wave shape, direction and placement of the beads have a large effect on their ability to resist bending. Designs were created with beads running laterally as well as some running front to back, in varying numbers, to understand how much strength they added. Implementing these changes would require expensive and time consuming changes to the manufacturing, so we developed a solution that could be implemented relatively quickly and did not require changes to the product, an external brace.

# 5.3 Designs Considered

The final designs under consideration were the best performers from the first round of designs that had been tweaked to improve results. Many of these designs utilize beads to add strength to the product, one employs a brace to take some of the load off of the chassis.

# 5.3.1 Lateral Beads

Designs with beads running across the width of the top aimed to redistribute forces to the sides of the chassis, as the sides are strong and already low stress, reducing the load in high stress areas like the front supports. The first of these designs placed 2 beads straddling airflow perforations in the front of the top cover, stopping 1/2" from both sides of the top. The following designs had an additional 2, 4, and 6 beads placed directly behind the front 2, with the goal of understanding the ideal number of beads that reduced stress to manageable levels.



Figure 17: Design with 2 Lateral Beads, Top Down View



Figure 18: Design with 8 Lateral Beads, Top Down View

### 5.3.2 Front to Back Beads

Designs with beads running front to back were created, even though they would redistribute load to the weak front and strong back of the chassis, purely to understand their effect. These beads stopped 1/2" from the power supplies in the back of the chassis, which fill the entire internal vertical space, and 1/2" from an angled section at the front, which slopes down to meet the front supports. These designs also had 2, 4, 6, or 8 beads evenly space across the width of the top cover.



Figure 19: Design with 4 Front to Back Beads, Top Down View

# 5.3.3 External Brace

A design utilizing an external brace was created, using existing, reinforced screw holes on the sides to grip the chassis. The brace was made from the same sheet metal as the rest of the chassis, sported two lateral beads to add strength and rigidity, and would be installed in the front set of mounting screw holes. The brace sat on top of the chassis with .2" clearnance so that it would be in tension if the failure mode Cisco identified occurred. If it were underneath the

chassis, it would experience compression and would risk buckling, reducing effectiveness. The customer would remove and recycle the brace before installation.



Figure 20: External Brace Fitted to Nexus 9200

# 5.3.4 Redistributed Front Supports

Designs were created that redistributed the front supports so they were less clustered and shared the load more evenly. This included making them all of equal size, as the existing design included 3 thicker supports clustered within 4" of each other on the right and 2 thinner supports spread across the remaining  $\sim$ 13". The front facing ports would need to be moved to accommodate this and would result in components of similar function not being next to each other, which customers may not like. While this goes against Cisco's criteria of moving internal components, we felt it had enough potential to devote our time.



Figure 21: Design with Rearranged Front Supports



Figure 22: Current Design with Unchanged Front Supports

### 5.3.5 Thicker Top

A design with a 0.0456" thick top cover was creating which aimed at preventing deformation by strong arming it. Besides the blunt force idea of making it thicker, we aimed to reduce stress in the critical areas by strengthening the faces pressing on them, like the top, causing these stresses. While this solution is not applicable to the Nexus 9200 product line, testing how much thickness effects strength and stress would be very helpful in crafting design guidelines for future products.



Figure 23: Design with 0.0456'' Thick Top Cover

### 5.3.6 New Foam Contact Pattern

A design with a new foam contact pattern was created with the goal of supporting the unit in the area it deformed the most. This area was the center line running from front to back. Modifying the current foam packaging design, we rotated the foam 90° so there was more foam closer to this center line on the top and the bottom of the unit. While the new supports are longer, they were made thinner, to ensure the same surface area of contact as the current design. This was done because having too much foam relative to the weight and size of the unit could result in a higher deceleration, impulse, and forces experienced when dropped, which would increase the stresses experienced.



Figure 24: Current Bottom Foam Supports vs New Bottom Foam Supports



Figure 25: Current Top Foam Supports vs New Top Foam Supports

### 6. Test and Evaluation of Design Alternatives

In order to create a test to evaluate the different design ideas, a computer model was created to simulate the real life drop. After creating the model in the computer it had to be verified with several methods in order to make sure that it was indeed accurate. After the model was deemed accurate, testing criteria and an evaluation methodology was decided upon. Additional tests outside of the alternative designs were conducted to understand the model better.

# 6.1 FEA Model

In order to simulate the drop in the computer, the Finite Element Method was chosen. In order to create the FEA model the software, simulation type, test setup, and model had to be defined and designed.

# 6.1.1 Software

The first step to creating and testing a model was selecting software packages to design a three dimensional model and to simulate a dropping chassis with the Finite Element Method. For this project, SolidWorks was used for both the design and analysis.

Solidworks is an industry standard for three dimensional design and is both extremely versatile and easy to use; our team also had considerable experience with the software.

Solidworks is not an industry standard for simulation software. However, our team had no experience with simulation software and Solidworks' simple user interface made it the clear choice for this project. It should be noted that Solidworks has some missing features that affected the design and analysis of our experiment; these will be commented on later.

# 6.1.2 Simulation Type

The Finite Element Method is a simulation method that breaks complex shapes into smaller, simpler ones and uses matrix computations to solve for stress, strain, and displacements. For these testing procedures, a linear static simulation method was chosen.

Linear means that the relation between stress and strain for all materials in the simulation is assumed to be linear. Linear approximations reduce computing times and are appropriate when tests are assumed to be operating in the elastic region of the their respective stress strain curves. For this model the foam of the packaging violates this assumption and further steps were taken in the validation of our model to address these issues.

A static simulation means that it does not take place over a time interval. Again, this vastly simplifies processing times and is most valid when materials being test have a low strain rate reliance such as the steel in the model. The foam in this model violates this assumption and further steps were taken in the validation of our model to address these issues.

# 6.1.3 Test Setup

Linear Static simulations in Solidworks require that elements are fixed in space and thus a drop could not be exactly replicated. Thus an approximation of the drop needed to be modeled and the orientations needed to be narrowed down.

Drop test data for the N9K switch from Cisco System was examined to determine the severity of each of the orientations. The maximum acceleration was seen in the top-side up and top-side down drops at about 60 G's. Figure 26 shows the drop test data acquired from Cisco Systems. These two worse case scenario drops were chosen to be modeled in our FEA software.



Figure 26: Drop Test Data of Top Up and Top Down Drop (Left to Right)

In the figure, from left to right, shows the top-up drop and top-down drop for an N9K switch weighing 29.5 lbs. Both drops resemble a half sine curve, last about 20 ms, and peaks at about 60 G's.

In order to replicate a drop in static simulation, the unit was modeled on top of foam fixtures with a large gravitational force. The sensor for the drop data collected by Cisco was placed inside of the unit of the chassis and not the package itself. Assuming that the foam the chassis sits on is perfectly elastic, then force of gravity on the unit is half of the maximum acceleration measured - 30G's. Two drops were modeled - a top-up drop and a top-down drop for each alternative.



Figure 27: Free Body Diagram of Static Approximation

Figure 27 shows the free body diagram for the linear static simulation. The red arrow represents the force applied by gravity. Essentially, gravity is pressing the chassis into foam supports, which have an opposite and equal normal reaction.

# 6.1.4 3D Model

Before simulating a drop, the chassis had to be remodeled and simplified so that it could be easily modified for different design alternatives and to minimize the computing time. All sheet metals components were modeled along with the main circuit board. Other circuit boards, heat sinks, power supplies, ports, bolts, rivets, and fans were not modeled and were replaced with equivalent forces in the model. Tiny features including small filets and holes were not modeled. Generally speaking the model is more accurate towards the front of the chassis where the deformations and damage was happening in real life. Figure 28 shows the components that were modeled for testing in Solidworks compared with the actual chassis.



Figure 28: Original Vs. Simplified Model (Left to Right)

# 6.1.5 Mesh

Various mesh controls were applied to create an accurate and fast to compute model. There are many different types of meshes, but Solidworks only has three - a solid tetrahedral, two dimensional triangles, and beam elements.

Meshes in contact with fixtures can not be two dimensional in Solidworks. This makes modeling sheet metal in contact with foam difficult. The preferred method for modeling a thin sheet with solid elements is with brick elements an even number of layers thick and greater or equal to four layers. However, because Solidworks does not allow the use of brick elements, tetrahedral ones were used instead at two layers thick. This means that there is no neutral axis in the parts modeled this way. This methodology tended to vastly underestimate the stresses in the model.

The top and bottom pieces were modeled as two dimensional curvature based mesh or a solid tetrahedral mesh depending on if the drop test was a top-up drop or top-down drop. Curvature based mesh means that the size of the elements are reduced on complicated surfaces. The mesh in contact with the fixtures (foam) were modeled as solid elements. Since this creates two fundamentally different models, one which has a solid meshed top cover and one that has a solid meshed bottom cover, the top-up and top-down drop tests can not be directly compared against each other. Additionally areas on the top cover can not be compared against areas on the bottom plate.

An aspect ratio plot of the mesh was constructed and evaluated. The aspect ratio of a tetrahedral is the ratio between the largest and shortest distance between any vertex and base. Tetrahedrals and triangles that are uniform in size will have an aspect ratio close to one, while distorted tetrahedrals and triangles will have ratios higher than four. A model has a good aspect ratio if its elements do not exceed four. Figure 29, from left to right, shows the aspect ratio for the top-down and top-up drop tests on the base model. The plot is a rainbow heatmap from 0 to 10. No values are above 4.



Figure 29: Aspect Ratio Heat Map Top and Bottom View

Figure 30 shows the aspect ratio of the inner components of the base model. The components in the back are a coarser mesh and have a high aspect ratio. However, the areas of interest are far away from these points and their accuracy does not affect the accuracy of the areas of interest.



Figure 30: Aspect Ratio Heat Map Inside View

### 6.1.6 Connectors

Rivets and screws were simulated using rigid connectors. This means that selected pairs of cylindrical cutouts in the sheet metal were constrained with respect to each other, but not with the rest of the model. These connectors are not an accurate representation of real life connectors such as screws and rivets used in the chassis and thus the areas directly surrounding the holes have exaggerated stresses; results become more accurate at a distance of about one and a half times the radius of the hole being constrained. For this project's purposes, this is the preferred way of modeling connectors and has little impact on the accuracy of the results.

# 6.1.7 Contacts

There are no simulated contacts between plates in the model. Model parts are allowed to pass through each other in the simulation. Simulating no penetration contacts greatly increases the simulation time without affecting results very much and thus was not chosen for this model.

# 6.1.8 Fixtures

In this simulation, foam was replaced with elastic fixtures. Fixtures constrain the model in three dimensional space and make the matrix equations solvable for the computer. Elastic fixtures were applied where the foam touches the chassis in real life and had a stiffness of 10.66 lb/in^2 and a shear stiffness of 11b/in^2. As mentioned earlier foam does not fit well into a linear static simulation. Because the foam had approximated material properties in the simulation and did not fit well into the model, additional model validation was needed to justify model results.

# **6.1.9 Material Properties**

In order to create a model for the simulation, the material properties for the chassis must be emulated. All of the sheet metal parts in the assembly are made of AISI 1020 cold rolled steel. Table 7, on the left, shows the material properties for the steel used in the model. The other

material simulated was the circuit board which was based off of FR4 circuit board. Table 7, on the right, shows the material properties for the main circuit board that was simulated. In a linear static model only Young's modulus, and poisson's ratio are used.

Property	Value	Units	Property	Value	Units
Elastic Modulus	2.05e+11	N/m^2	Elastic Modulus	2.068427162e+10	N/m^2
Poisson's Ratio	0.29	N/A	Poisson's Ratio	0.1180000007	N/A
Shear Modulus	8e+10	N/m^2	Shear Modulus	55020164	N/m^2
Mass Density	7870	kg/m^3	Mass Density	1849.018188	kg/m^3
Tensile Strength	420000000	N/m^2	Tensile Strength	319916736	N/m^2
Compressive Strength		N/m^2	Compressive Strength	550201664	N/m^2
Yield Strength	350000000	N/m^2	Yield Strength		N/m^2
Thermal Expansion Coefficient	1.17e-05	/K	Thermal Expansion Coefficient		/K

Table 7: Material Properties For Sheet Metal and PCB

# 6.2 Model Validation

Once an FEA model was constructed in the computer, it was evaluated and tested to see if it was an accurate approximation of a real world drop. Three types of validation methods were used to verify the accuracy of the model; hand calculations, solution boundaries, and convergence plots were used to validate the model.

# 6.2.1 Roark's Formulas

Utilizing <u>Roark's Formulas for Stress and Strain</u> we calculated the max stress within the chassis using the equation for a rectangular plate fixed at two short edges. The maximum stress is calculated at the center point of the short edges. This is where we will probe the chassis to gather the simulation results. Our goal is for our hand calculated value, accepted value, and simulated value, experimental value, to be with 30% error of each other.

The parameters of this equation are defined as follows:

 $\sigma_{max}$  = maximum stress

 $\beta$  = ratio of sheet metal length (a) to sheet metal width (b)

- q = distributed force applied to the sheet metal
- a = sheet metal length
- b = sheet metal width
- t = sheet metal thickness

The calculated values for the base model were:

 $σ_{max}$  = 32302276.24 N/m<sup>2</sup> = 4685.057506 psi β = 0.56907 q = 30\*(9.8 meters/second<sup>2</sup>) = 294 Newtons a = 0.56079 meters

# b = **0.43940 meters** t = **0.00100 meters**

The calculated or accepted max stress in the center of a short side of the chassis is **4685.057506 psi.** Our measured or experimental value of max stress from the top upright drop was **6132.6 psi.** (*Figure 27*) Using the percent error equation our simulation resulted in a **30.9% error.** Our target was to be within 30% error, however being only 0.9% over our goal, we accepted the result and validated our base model.



Figure 31: Results from Base Model Up - Location 2

# 6.2.2 Solution Boundaries

As mentioned before, the foam in the simulation provides a unique problem. It is strain rate reliant, experiences large deformations, and does not have a linear stress strain relationship in the elastic region, and is thus not suitable for a linear static study.

In order to understand the variance in the study caused by the foam, two extreme approximations for the foam were made; one in which its stress strain curve was nearly perfectly elastic and the other where it was perfectly inelastic. For each measured area on the model, the true stress of the foam would be somewhere in between these extremes.



Figure 32: Stress Strain Curve Of Foam Compared with Other Approximations

Figure 32 shows the general shape of a stress strain curve for a foam material. The red line represents the foam being modeled as a perfectly inelastic fixture and the blue line represents a nearly perfectly elastic fixture to simulate the foam. The purple line is the simulated elastic fixture in the model. Knowing that the true stress strain relationship lies somewhere between the red and blue extreme approximations, the variance and boundaries for the modeled foam can be approximated.

# 6.3 Comparison of Alternatives

Once the alternative designs were constructed, a standard way to test and evaluate them was needed. It was decided after various meetings with the stakeholders that the criteria that would be evaluated for each model was robustness, cost, sustainability and implementation time. Long term and short term solutions would weight these criteria differently.

### 6.3.1 Robustness

The first step in comparing robustness between models was to first evaluate the areas of high stress on the control test. After two rounds of testing, twelve areas of high stress were chosen near the front of the chassis. The areas of high stress were consistent across the top-up drop and top-down drop. Figure 33 shows the chosen areas on the top and bottom of the front of the chassis.



Figure 33: Sites of High Stress on Base Model

As mentioned before areas of interest can not be compared between the top and bottom cover and between the top-up and top-drown drop. This means that there are four distinct categories that can not be directly compared, but need to be factored in for robustness.

Figure 34 shows the control model top-up drop and control model top-down drop from left to right. The "Top Front Middle" bar is colored a different color to show that it can not be compared to other points of interest on the chassis. From this data we can conclude that the front supports are the most critical areas in both types of drops. Across all tests, these results were true.



Figure 34: Top Up and Top Down Drops of Base Model (Left to Right)

Site 1 refers to the top middle of the chassis and sites 2-12 refer to the other test sites on the bottom cover. In order to assess the robustness of each design, the stress of site 1, the sum of the stress across sites 2-12, and the maximum value between sites 2-12 across both sets of drops were weighted and ranked. Top-up and Top-down drops had equal weighting and their values were summed. 2-12.

An analytical hierarchy process was then used to determine the most robust alternatives. Table 8 shows the standardized values of the qualities of each model used to evaluate its robustness.

B				
Standardized Qualities Matrix				
	Sum Site 1 Su	um 2-12	Max 2-12	Average
Sum Site 1	0.083	0.048	0.091	0.074
Sum 2-12	0.167	0.095	0.091	0.118
Max 2-12	0.750	0.857	0.818	0.808

Table 8: Average Standardized Qualities for AHP of Robustness

A reduction in the maximum stress value was given the highest weight in the model, as it is the main measure of mechanical failure. The sum of sites 2-12 were considered slightly more important that site 1 as there were more data points that went into it.

Each model was the ranked and standardized based on each quality listed above. The standardized averages for each solution alternative and the standardized values for the qualities were combined to give a standardized robustness score for each solution alternative. Table 9 shows the standardized values found in the AHP process for each solution alternative.

AHP Standardized Robustness Score		
Base	0.08703	
External Brace	0.13243	
Front Supports Uniform Width	0.10048	
Horizontal Stripes 2	0.08491	
Horizontal Stripes 4	0.08568	
Horizontal Stripes 8	0.08700	
Horizontal Stripes 4 Uneven	0.10453	
Top Thick	0.11066	
Vertical Stripes 4	0.09884	
Vertical Stripes 8	0.10020	

 Table 9: Standardized Robustness Score for Each Solution Alternative

From here the order of robustness of each design aspect is clear. It should be noted that more than one alternative can be selected, but the interactions between them is unknown. It should also be noted that some alternatives conflict; putting horizontal stripes on the chassis would not allow vertical stripes.

# 6.3.2 Economics

Another crucial metric that was used when evaluating different alternatives was the cost of implementing each solution. First and foremost, if the cost of implementing a solution was greater than the per unit cost of the problem, it made no sense to pursue the solution and was immediately discarded. Furthermore, with limited access to manufacturing data, we made two crucial assumptions when calculating and comparing the costs of alternative solutions. The first assumption was that the cost of implementing bead rolling of any kind (i.e. "Horizontal Stripes 2," "Vertical Stripes 8," etc.) was \$0 per unit. This assumption was made because it requires minor changes to existing dies. Given the volume of yearly unit production (~XXX,XXX per year), the one time equipment modification fee is effectively zero. Additionally, we also assumed the cost of evenly spacing the front supports to be \$0 per unit. Similarly, satisfying engineering change orders to redesign the placement of the front supports is a one time labor and equipment cost that will effectively zero out on a per unit basis over time. Finally, in calculating costs of implementing the remaining solutions (the external brace and changing the thickness of the sheet metal), we used cost data that was provided to us to estimate the per gram cost of sheet metal that Cisco would pay. We then multiplied that value by the weight of the two remaining solutions. A breakdown of those costs will be shown is shown in Table 14 and Table 15 respectively.

# 6.3.3 Implementation Time

We were able to estimate time to implement changes with the professors and experts that helped us by considering the size, shape, complexity, and changes to the product. Time to implement increases as any of those factors increase. We estimated that it would take 2 months to implement the external brace, whether it was manufactured by Cisco's contracted factories or by a 3rd party, since it does not require engineering change orders and is a relatively simple part to manufacture. Beads are a significant step up as they require minor product changes, but need redesigned dies. This pushes implementation time for beading to around 3 months. Increasing the sheet metal thickness of the top requires significant changes to the product, stamping dies, reengineering of the chassis, and packaging drop testing. We estimated implementation for this would take around 4 months. If time allowed, we would have gotten estimates from these vendors and used that to compare the potential solutions.

Because the estimates for implementation time are rough, the implementation time will be compared against each alternative solution in an analytical hierarchy process. Instead of classifying an external brace to take 2 months, the implementation time of the brace can be rated to be significantly faster than an added bead to the product.

# 6.3.4 Sustainability

As previously mentioned, the final criteria we used to compare alternative solutions was sustainability. The question we wanted to address was "How sustainable is this solution over a long period of time?" Solutions that we felt were not very sustainable (i.e. environmental reasons, cost, etc.) were either discarded or used as a short term solution. On the contrary, modifications that we felt were sustainable were considered as a long term solution. The external brace and the thicker top sheet metal were the only alternatives that had an impact on sustainability. The external brace requires an entirely new metal part to be manufactured and would only be used during shipping. There is no guarantee that the customer would recycle the brace upon delivery and thus, this would have adverse environmental effects and violate Cisco's commitment to sustainability. Increasing the sheet metal thickness is only marginally less sustainable.

Because the estimates for sustainability are rough, sustainability will be compared against each alternative solution in an analytical hierarchy process. Instead of classifying an external brace to add a certain amount of carbon to the environment each year, the sustainability of the brace can be rated to be significantly worse than an added bead to the product.

# 6.3.5 Solution Selection Method

Once each alternative was measured on each of its criteria (robustness, cost, implementation time, and sustainability), the qualities and alternatives were compared to each other in order to select alternative solutions and/or combinations of solutions for the final design of the short term and long term proposals.

An analytical hierarchy process was used to compare the results and solution alternatives against one another. Two different AHP's (Analytical Hierarchy Process) were used to evaluate the short term and long term solution.

Table 10 shows the standardized quality matrix and the averages of each quality row. Of the alternatives in this model, robustness had the heaviest weight followed by implementation time, cost, and lastly, sustainability.

	Short Term Qualities Standardized					
	Robustness	Cost	Sustainability	Implementation Time	Average	
Robustness	0.687772926	0.690140845	0.409090909	0.746268657	0.633318	
Cost	0.098253275	0.098591549	0.318181818	0.074626866	0.147413	
Sustainability	0.076419214	0.014084507	0.045454545	0.029850746	0.041452	
Implementation	0.137554585	0.197183099	0.227272727	0.149253731	0.177816	

Table 10: Analytical Hierarchy Process Standardized Qualities for Short Term Solution

Table 11 shows the final standardized scores for the short term AHP for each design alternative. The external brace had the highest score of all of the alternatives, which is not surprising as it

had the best robustness of any alternative and the fastest predicted implementation time, which were the two most important qualities in the evaluation.

Standardized Short Term Solution Score		
External Brace	0.12925	
Front Supports Uniform Width	0.09684	
Horizontal Stripes 2	0.09525	
Horizontal Stripes 4	0.09574	
Horizontal Stripes 8	0.09659	
Horizontal Stripes 4 Uneven	0.10778	
Top Thick	0.10416	
Vertical Stripes 4	0.10340	
Vertical Stripes 8	0.10501	

Table 11: Standardized Scores of Short Term Solutions

Table 12 shows the standardized quality matrix and the averages of each quality for the Long Term AHP. Robustness had the heaviest weight in this model followed by cost, sustainability, and implementation time.

	Standardized Qualities Long Term				
	Robustness	Cost	Sustainability	Implementation T	Average
Robustness	0.861244019	0.87804878	0.837209302	0.833333333	0.852459
Cost	0.04784689	0.048780488	0.093023256	0.041666667	0.057829
Sustainability	0.04784689	0.024390244	0.046511628	0.083333333	0.050521
Implementation	0.043062201	0.048780488	0.023255814	0.041666667	0.039191

Table 12: Standardized Qualities for Long Term AHP

Table 13 shows the final standardized scores for the long term AHP. Of the embossing methods, the uneven emboss was the best alternative. Even front supports and thicker top sheet metal also proved to be viable options at improving the robustness of the chassis. The external brace was not included in the study as it was not sustainable.

Standardized AHP Long Term		
Base	0.101060268	
Front Supports Uniform Width	0.103659091	
Horizontal Stripes 2	0.092113007	
Horizontal Stripes 4	0.092777905	
Horizontal Stripes 8	0.093911842	
Horizontal Stripes 4 Uneven	0.108983902	
Top Thick	0.108346261	
Vertical Stripes 4	0.103796022	
Vertical Stripes 8	0.105254255	

Table 13: Standardized Alternative Values for Long Term AHP

Once the group of viable solutions was identified, several prototypes were modeled and tested in Solidworks; only the best one was chosen. While the AHP methodology is good at identifying the best of individual alternatives, it does little to predict the interactions between them.

# 6.4 Additional Experiments

An experiment was conducted to understand the effects the PCB had on the model. Because it is off set from the sheet metal and is rigidly constrained with connectors in the FEA model it adds a lot of stiffness to the bottom sheet metal. When the PCB was removed from the model it had it increased the stress in all areas on the top down drops and did not affect the model much (<1%) in the top up drops. This showed how the stiffness of the bottom sheet affected the model.



Figure 35: No PCB Fea Model

Another experiment that was conducted but did not factor into the final analysis was the effect that foam orientation has on the stresses in the model. Because the foam is what it is in contact with the chassis, it is the source where force is applied. The idea was that the chassis should be supported along the sides instead across the front and back of the chassis; the sides are much more robust than the front and back. The surface area in contact with the chassis was kept the same because in real life the surface area is critical to the amount of impact that the foam will absorb. To much foam would not allow the foam to condense and would transfer the load directly into the chassis and not enough would make it condense too much.

The foam orientation drastically reduced the stress across all the different sites. It reduced stress 50% on average on site 1 and 36% in sites 2-12. However, it should be noted that changing the orientation of the foam fundamentally changes the FEA model and thus these results can not be directly compared to the base model. For this reason it was excluded from the analysis.



### Figure 36: Foam Orientation FEA Model

Additional experiments that could be run to investigate the root cause of the bending damage seen in the Nexus 9200 top and bottom cover is thermal expansion analysis. This simulates how different material can contract or expand from assembly to the customer due to changing temperatures. What could potentially result from this is the contracting or expansion of the PCB or the bottom cover of the unit could lead to bending in the cover due to the screws fastened

down. This idea was not tested by our team, as it did not directly relate to increasing the durability of the chassis, but was considered as an alternative experiment.

Basic procedure for this experiment would be to individually place the top cover, bottom cover and the PCB under a simulation where the temperature would be changed until a threshold value of deformation was observed in the part. This deformation would be measured at holes, the locations where the parts are screwed together. Upon finding this deformation the parts would be mated together, two at a time, and then ran under a simulation with the same change in temperature. Ideally, there would be a difference in the location of the holes for the screws for the two parts, resulting in a stress being pre loaded to a different location of the unit, specifically the cover. Deformation in these locations would be then measured and compared to the physical damage observed by customers.

### 7. Conclusions and Recommendations

There are two solutions. The first is a short term solution: a fix that can be applied as quickly as possible. The second is a long term solution: one that is more cost effective and sustainable, but would take longer to implement. Finally, future design recommendations were created based on the testing done in this project.

# 7.1 Short Term

### 7.1.1 Description of Solution

As previously mentioned, we wanted to design a short-term solution that could be implemented as quickly as possible upon noticing instances of unit damage. Criteria for this solution included something that would solve the issue but have a relatively fast, cheap, and painless implementation. This ruled out the possibility of adding any sort of embossing, which would require engineering change orders that take time to process. What we decided upon was selecting the external metal brace that would mount in holes along the sides of the chassis and sit upon the front cover. This external brace has three vertical beads in order to increase its stiffness and is made of 19 gauge AISI 1020 cold rolled steel. Based on our testing results, we saw that it adds enough rigidity for the chassis to sustain rough shipping environments and it should be noted that the chassis would be removed and discarded upon delivery. Figure 37 shows the 3D render of the chassis with the brace attached.



Figure 37: CAD Render of External Brace Attached to Chassis

### 7.1.2 Solution Justification

During testing, the external brace reduced loads in top-down on average 29% across sites 2-12 and 23% at site 1. It reduced the maximum stress by 29%. Amongst all of the alternatives, it was

the most effective across all measures of robustness. Of all of the alternatives, it was estimated to be the fastest to implement. Figure 38 shows a comparison between an external brace and the base model across all sites on the top-down drop.



Short Term Solution Had 23% Reduction in Stress on Average on Top-Down Drop

Figure 38: Top Down Drop Results: Base Model vs. Short Term Solution

For the short term solution the external brace was explicitly chosen because of its effectiveness and most importantly its implementation time. The solution is relatively cheap at \$1.82 per unit. Unfortunately, this design does not meet Cisco's values for sustainably and thus should be used as a bandaid, temporary solution if necessary.

# 7.1.3 Implementation Plan

While new stamping dies would need to be designed and created to produce the brace, the brace's simple shape, simple design, moderate size, and lack of changes to the actual product would result in faster implementation times. We estimated the time to implement the brace to be around 2 months. The path to implementation starts with creating accurate prototypes and drop testing a chassis with a brace installed to ensure functionality of the current design. Then the stamping dies would be designed and machined, followed by testing the first few batches of braces and redesigning the brace and stamping dies if necessary. The Packaging Engineering team would need to conduct drop tests to ensure Cisco's design standards were met. Full production of the brace could begin shortly afterwards. This design would require changing the packaging foam to make room for the brace, these changes could be implemented in a number of weeks since the changes are minor.

# 7.1.4 Economics of Design

We estimate the total cost of implementing this solution to be \$1.82 per unit. Using data that was provided to us - the weight and price of manufacturing the top cover of the current design - we calculated the per gram cost of sheet metal that Cisco pays. We then multiplied the per gram cost of sheet metal by the total weight of the brace to determine the total cost. Table 14 below provides a breakdown of the financial estimate.

External Brace Final Solution: Cost Estimate	<u>Value</u>	
Top Cover Price	\$8.48	*given
Top Cover Mass	2,284 g	*data from Solidworks
\$ per gram	\$0.00371	(Top Cover Price) / (Top Cover Mass)
External Brace Mass	490 g	*data from Solidworks
Total Per Unit Cost of External Brace	\$1.82	(\$ per gram) x (External Brace Mass)

 Table 14: Breakdown of External Brace Cost Estimate

Considering the fact that the current state of the issue adds approximately \$8.30 per unit, it is financially sensible to invest this \$1.82 per unit in order to prevent any damages from occurring at all.

# 7.1.5 Conformance to Standards

Our FEA simulation was modeling an ASTM D5276 simulated drop test. It was key that our simulation conformed to a standard drop test as best possible within FEA. Since drop testing is down when a product is in a package, to simulate a drop during shipping, we needed to include the packaging in our simulation. We did so by placing fixtures on the top and bottom covers in the location of the current Nexus 9200 packaging. These fixtures were set with an elastic modulus of 10.66 *lb/in*<sup>2</sup> to mimic the cushion the foam provides.

Sample Size of 3	Taking multiple samples was not possible in FEA since results will be the same
Drop height of 36 inches	30 G's of force was our estimated force applied to the package from a drop height of 36 inches. The Cisco package testing reports were performed from a drop height of 36 inches for top and bottom drops. 30 G's was roughly half of the measured results for these tests.
Drop Orientations	Defined to be on the top and bottom of the package. Standard drop testing is performed on all sides, corners and edges.
Testing Temperature	To be performed at standard room temperature. This was not a possible defining parameter in SolidWorks.

Table 15: Basic Parameters of ASTM D5276 Standard

# 7.2 Long Term Solution

The long term solution addresses any redesigns of the chassis that can take place after the issue has been temporarily resolved. Overall, it is cheaper, more effective, and more sustainable than the short term solution. However, it takes considerably longer to implement due to product redesigns that require extensive reigneering, testing, and manufacturing changes.

# 7.2.1 Description of Solution

As a long term fix, we wanted an effective design modification that would not only prevent the issue from occurring but also be sustainable and relatively cheap to implement. The solution design that we propose involves three parts that each contribute to making the chassis more durable. First, we want to add two 1.5 inches long emboss stripes along the top sheet metal cover. After experimenting and testing over twenty different emboss configurations, the two uneven stripes gave us the best and most feasible results. The stripes would start along the front right of the chassis and serve two purposes: to distribute stress away from the crucial front supports as well as add overall sturdiness to the cover. Furthermore, we want to increase the sheet metal thickness of the top cover to 19 gauge AISI 1020 cold rolled steel. Increasing the sheet metal thickness makes the cover less susceptible to bending and 19 gauge was chosen because it does not add overly excessive height to the 1RU, allowing it to retain its ability to slide in to server racks. Our last design modification is to evenly space out the front supports of the chassis. Given that the front supports see the highest amounts of stress in the current design, spacing the front supports allows stress to be distributed amongst them. Images of the final design can be found below.



Figure 39: CAD Render of Long Term Solution Design

#### 7.2.2 Solution Justification

During testing, the external brace reduced loads in top-down on average 63 % across sites 2-12 and 65% at site 1. It reduced the maximum stress by 61%. Figure 40 shows a comparison



between the longterm design in blue and the base model in grey across all sites on the top-down

Figure 40: Top Down Drop Results: Base Model vs. Long Term Solution

For the long term solution the external brace was explicitly chosen because of its effectiveness and most importantly its implementation time. The solution is relatively cheap at \$1.32 per unit.

# 7.2.3 Implementation Plan

Changing the thickness of the sheet metal significantly increases the implementation time of this plan as it requires redesigning the product to ensure all design criteria are still met as well as redesigning and machining the new stamping dies. The size and complexity of the part and die exponentially increase the time required, we estimated 4 months to fully implement. The path to implementation starts with creating accurate prototypes and drop testing a chassis with a redesigned top cover installed to ensure functionality of the current design. Then the stamping dies would be designed and machined, followed by testing the first few batches of tops and redesigning the top and accompanying stamping dies if necessary. The Packaging Engineering team would need to conduct drop tests to ensure Cisco's design standards were met. Full production of the new top could begin shortly afterwards. These changes would not require any modifications of the current packaging design, speeding up implementation.

# 7.2.4 Economics of Design

We estimate the total cost of implementing this solution to be \$1.32 per unit. Using data that was provided to us - particularly the weight and price of manufacturing the top cover of the current design - we calculated the per gram cost of sheet metal that Cisco pays. We then multiplied the per gram cost of sheet metal by the total weight of the thicker top cover to determine the total

estimate. As previously mentioned in Section 6.3.2, the costs of adding beading and rearranging the front supports were estimated as \$0 per unit. Table 16 below provides a breakdown of the financial estimate for this solution.

Thick Sheet Metal: Cost Estimate	Value	
Top Cover Price		*given
Top Cover Mass		*data from Solidworks
\$ per gram		(Top Cover Price) / (Top Cover Mass)
Top Cover Mass		*data from Solidworks
Top Cover Cost: Thicker Sheet Metal		(\$ per gram) x (Top Cover Mass)
True Cost of Changing Thickness	\$1.32	Thick Top Cost - Current Top Cost

Table 16: Breakdown of Thicker Sheet Metal Cost Estimate

# 7.3 Recommendations

Our data shows that across all the alternatives the most critical regions on the chassis are the front supports. This being said, design choices should revolve around reducing the stress on the parts of the chassis. Increasing the rigidity of the top and bottom, braces, and distributing the supports are all effective ways of doing this.

### **8** Future Directions

This section discusses project next steps as well as improvements that could have been made to increase the accuracy of the results.

### 8.1 Implementation of Results

The next step towards implementation would be to create prototypes of the brace and the redesigned top, drop them according to Cisco's testing standards, and analyze the results. Upon passing, new stamping dies would need to be designed, machined, and tested. The first few batches of the new dies would need to be carefully scrutinized for fit and errors. Once the dies are operational, they would swap places with the current dies and go into production. This process would be much slower for the redesigned top as it would require time consuming ECO's (Engineering Change Orders) and the dies would take a lot longer to design and make. Our comprehensive analysis and testing makes us confident that the bending issue will not return if our solutions are implemented.

As Cisco has already eliminated the problem as stated earlier, implementing either of our solutions would result in unjustified costs that bring little to no benefit. If the bending problem was to start happening again, our solutions are worth considering as they address the problem at hand as well as speed, cost, and sustainability.

### **8.2 Improvements to Project**

There are several improvements that could be made to this project to enhance the accuracy of the results and reveal innovation solutions. They are mainly through FEA.

The accuracy of the FEA model could be greatly improved. Firstly, a different meshing method could have been used to more accurately represent real life .Unfortunately Solidworks is very limiting on the meshing it will allow the user to do. Generally speaking, thin sheet metal parts should be modeled as shells.

As mentioned before the foam is not modeled well in this simulation. Running a nonlinear dynamic study of the model would provide better and more accurate results.

Finally, a full factorial testing setup could have been used to study the interactions between design alternatives.

### 9. Project Analysis

This section depicts the specific plan and vital steps taken to ensure our project conclusions complete to Cisco's specifications and delivered on time.

# 9.1 Project Management Analysis

Steps taken to keep our project on track and have our final report delivered on time were setting due dates for our team. Examples of this would be defining individual tasks for group members by April 14th and vet our solution by May 10th.

Break up of individual assignments was done as so. Cole, was responsible for model validation using Roark's Formulas for Stress and Strain, Colin designed and manufactured the external brace which was used a short term solution. He also led the team in modeling of our solution designs. Ethan led the design and simulation of our FEA model in SolidWorks so that all constraints were met. Rahul gathered cost information from Cisco and provided the economic analysis on the benefits or detriments of each proposed solution.

### 9.2 Client Communication Analysis

The quality of our communications with Cisco have increased greatly as the project progressed, as we were better equipped to handle the next set of goals. The vast majority of communication was through video conferencing, allowing us to have face-to-face discussions with the Test & Quality, Packaging, and Engineering teams. After each meeting, a summary was sent out providing a record of the discussions, decisions made, and guidance given. We referenced these summaries many times, helping us avoid mistakes in our assumptions when designing new solutions. Table 17 lists our meetings with Test & Quality, Packing, and Engineering. While email was used extensively in this project, we felt that the record of our meetings paints a better picture of our interactions with the client.

### 9.3 Teamwork Analysis

Teamwork analysis will be measured by individuals commitment to group meetings and involvement in group discussion.

First, group meetings were held weekly in class and before and after client meetings. Group members were present for nearly every meeting with our team and with our sponsor. If there was an absence it was always communicated with the team prior to the event they would miss. When an individual of the group felt it was necessary for the team to meet, a team meeting would be called. When this occurred we continuously saw commitment from every team member to show up and contribute to that days specific goal, unless a valid excuse was given.

Second, meetings were being conducted it was expected that all members listen and contribute to completing the daily task. Some days that task would be consulting on fixture design with Dr. Peter Schuster, other days it would be designing new models within SolidWorks. Regardless or

what was asked of the team all members worked in the best way they could to meet that daily goal.

# **10 Bibliography**

The cited sources below are cumulative of all the sources used within the entire report.

# 10.1 Sources

*Protective Packaging for Distribution: Design and Development*, by Daniel Goodwin and Dennis Young, DEStech, 2011.

Lee, Henry. "Introduction to Finite Element Analysis & Tools." Cisco. 2019.

Roark, Raymond J., et al. Roark's Formulas for Stress and Strain. Seventh ed., McGraw-Hill, 2002.

Cast Study: XXXXXXX IRU. Cisco, 2019, Cast Study: XXXXXXXX IRU.

Earl, James, and Mike Keys. Package Test Report. Cisco, 2017, Package Test Report.

# **REFERENCES (or BIBLIOGRAPHY)..... APPENDICES (if appropriate)**

1. Documented communication with the client organization, including at least 2-3 visits. A table of dates, types, and highlights of each communication (from emails, calls, and visits)

Date	Туре	Торіс	Teams	Attendance
1/31/19	Meeting	First Project Meeting, Understanding Problem	T&Q	Christine Nolan-Brady
2/14/19	Meeting	Understanding Problem	T&Q	Christine Nolan-Brady
2/19/19	Meeting	Questions with Packaging	T&Q, Packaging	Christine Nolan-Brady, Mark Doutt, James Earle
3/5/19	Meeting	Weekly Meeting	T&Q	Christine Nolan-Brady
3/6/19	Meeting	Questions with Product Engineering	T&Q, Engineering	Christine Nolan-Brady, Harvey Yang
3/13/19	Meeting	Weekly Meeting	T&Q	Christine Nolan-Brady
3/18/19	Meeting	Project Update	T&Q	Christine Nolan-Brady
5/7/19	Meeting	Review FEA model with Cisco	T&Q, Engineering	Christine Nolan-Brady, Henry Lee

5/14/19	Meeting	Review updated FEA model	T&Q, Engineering	Christine Nolan-Brady, Henry Lee
5/17/19	Meeting	Final project presentation to Test & Quality, Packaging, Product Engineering	T&Q, Packaging, Engineering	Christine Nolan-Brady, Rob Grimes, Greg Twiss, Bob Loose, Mark Doutt, Robert Lee, Harvey Yang, James Earle

Table 17: Meetings

# 2. AHP Robustness

			Standardized Qualities Matrix								
	Sum Site 1	Sum 2-12	Max 2-12			Sum Site 1	Sum 2-12	Max 2-12	Average		
Sum Site 1	-1	0.5	0.11111111		Sum Site 1	0.083	0.048	0.091	0.074		WALUES
Sum 2-12	2	1	0.111111111		Sum 2-12	0.167	0.095	0.091	0.118		
Max 2-12	9	9	1		Max 2:12	0.750	0.857	0.818	0.808		
Sum	12	10.5	1.2222222222								
Th: 111.00	-										
Site 1 Matrix	0410	in sectorize	Priorit Supports Uniform Width is	1 /00/20164.00	torgonda Stripes A	A date to the t	0.55608	Disp Thills	0.666531004	Vertical Stripes 8	-
Extented Binate	1.204855604	0.50055594/0	1.635433917	1.845043834	1 744030/90707	1.69851754	0.00000	0.954110764	1.135725420	1.063475039	
Event for events ( in form while)	1.042449124	0.611458402	1.003456917	1.139219234	1.066953845	1.0385739	0.57968	0.546711878	0.664449413	0.650021368	
marganetal Brokes 7	0.923568561	0.541728291	0.885960279	1.120-101-14	0.945277836	0.92053522	0.51357	0.484365096	0.615254595	0.576334555	
Horizontal Stripes 4	0.977011974	0.573088958	0.927248547	1.057890031	1 1	0.97340188	0.54311	0.512405007	0.650871703	0.609465802	
Horizontal Stripes 8	1.001731343	0.588748565	0.962858783	1.086796785	1.027324934	1	0.55815	0.526406429	0.668656716	0.626329403	
Horibontal Stripes & Unaven	1.798313278	1.054818472	1.72508485	1.947135658	1.840584182	1.7916281	1	0.94312455	1.197984161	1.121773515	2
Top Thick	1.906761178	1.118429662	1.829116685	2.064558342	1.951581243	1.89967285	1.06031	1	1.270229008	1.189422028	
Vertoal Stripes 4	1.501116071	0.880494505	1.439989698	1.625343407	1.536401099	1.49553571	0.83474	0.787259615	1	0.936383929	
Vertical Stripes 8	1.603098927	0.94031356	1.537819749	1.735766022	1.64078115	1.59713945	0.89145	0.840744476	1.067938021		
Sum	13.4609282	7.895640814	12.91279089	14.57490951	13.77733892	13.4108876	7.48531	7.059577444	8.967280051	8.396836923	
Standardized Site 1	Base	Gelenial Briale	Prost Supports Unifiem Watth - >	Honorotal Stripes 2	Horsonda Shipes 4	workshild Strip	indrauntai t	Top Thick	United Stripes 4	vertical Stripes 8	Austrage
Bane	0.074289082	0.074289082	0.074289082	0.074289083	0.074289082	0.07428908	0.07429	0.074289082	0.074289082	0.074289082	0.074285
Edenal Brace	0.126652165	0.126652165	0.126652165	0.126652165	0.126652165	0.12665216	0.12665	0.126652165	0.126652165	0.126652565	0.126653
Provid Supports Uniform Walth-	0.077442592	0.077642592	0.077442592	0.077442593	0.077442592	0.07744259	0.07744	0.077442592	0.077442592	0.007442592	0.07744)
Horborida Striges 2	0.068611061	0.068611061	0.068611061	0.068611061	0.068611063	0.06861106	0.06861	0.068611061	0.068611061	0.068615065	0.068611
Hardonia sorgei e	0.072582957	0.072582957	0.072542957	0.072582951	0.077582957	0.032546296	0.07258	0.072542967	0.002582957	0.024542957	0.07258
structure or pells	0.133505043	0.111505043	0.111660013	0 11250502	0.13365041	0111350504	0.1916	0.111100013	0.133505041	0.111505043	0.133500
The Day	0.141651518	0.141651518	0.141651538	0.141651516	0.141651518	0.14185154	0.14165	0.141651518	0.141651538	0.141651536	0.141651
Vertical Stripes 4	0.111516515	0.111516545	0.111516515	0.111516519	0.111536535	0.11151654	0.11152	0.111516535	0.111516535	0.111516515	0.11151
Vertical Stripes 8	0.119092748	0.119092748	0.119092748	0.119092748	0.119092748	0.11909275	0.11909	0.119092748	0.119092748	0.119092248	0.119097
Average 2-12 Matrix	Bala	Einernal Brace	Front Supports Uniform Watch	Horioontal Stripes 2	Horizontal Stripes &	Noricontal Sing-	Horizontal S	ί Τοφ Ττικίκ	viertical thropes a	vertical tripes 8	
Baca	1	0.707822647	1.026826549	1.054593995	1.00626355	0.99754871	0.90379	0.840884212	0.933234162	0.920457217	
External Brain	1.412783278	1	1.450683378	1.432836317	1.421630905	1.40932013	1.27685	5.187987153	1.338457619	1.300406564	
Front Supports Undern Watth	0.973874313	0.689330294	1	0.98769748	0.97997325	0.97148706	0.88017	0.818915534	0.908852779	0.896409639	
Horizontal Stripes 2	0.986004655	0.697916425	1.012455758	1	0.992179559	0.98358767	0.89114	0.829115747	0.920573228	0.9075751	
Horizontal Stripes é	0.993776425	0.70541746	1.020436017	1.007882082	1 1	0.99134039	0.89816	0.835650906	0.92742611	0.914728682	
Horborita Stripes 8	1.002457317	0.709561992	1.029349787	1.056686191	1.008735256	1	0.90601	0.842950531	0.935527414	0.922719071	
Horbontal Stripes 4 Uneven	1.106457761	0.783175862	1.136140205	1.122162817	1.113387009	1.10074551	1	0.930402862	1.032584182	1.038447005	
Top Thick	1.189224374	0.841759944	1.22112716	1.206104218	1.196671951	1.18630924	1.0748	1	1.109824812	1.094630157	
Vertical Scripes 4	1.071342428	0.758401998	1.100266213	1.086751895	1.008253636	1,06891376	0.90894	0.90104311		0.586308963	
Venice longes a	3.0804100	2.66043680278	1.113361409	1.970837194	1099220339	1.083733917	0.98189	0.915330367	10.00006110	0.001003433	
Standardined Average 2.13	10/4/COSTIS	Francis Black	Inter formore unders when	10.37913213	internet internet A	IN YPRANTY	3.78123	9.10000091	10.099901.59	9.963582422	August and
land	0.024289062	0.08964727	0.07952011	0.069584920	0.073037532	0.0341835	0.12074	0.119112543	0.50402104	0.109619779	0.091401
Econor Brain	0.104954373	0.126652165	0.112344681	0.098308419	0.101186125	0.50508776	0.17058	0.168280207	0.142029825	0.154868995	0.129125
Front Supports Liveform writtin	0.072348229	0.087305174	0.077442592	0.067766972	0.071129356	0.07244018	0.11759	0.116000645	0.101352113	0.306755887	0.089013
Horizontal Stripes 2	0.073249381	0.0883932626	0.078407198	0.068611061	0.072015326	0.07334247	0.11905	0.11744553	0.50265453	0.108085613	0.090122
Horborital Stripes 4	0.073826738	0.089089344	0.07902521	0.069151859	0.072582957	0.07392057	0.11999	0.118371236	0.003423346	0.108937552	0.090832
Horborital Stripes 8	0.074471634	0.089867562	0.079715516	0.069755918	0.073236988	0.07456628	0.12104	0.119405239	0.504326776	0.10968915	0.091625
Horborital Stripes 4 Univers	0.082197731	0.099190918	0.087985643	0.076992781	0.080812921	0.0823022	0.1336	0.131792996	0.11515021	0.121289655	0.101133
Top Thui	0.088346387	0.106610719	0.094567253	0.08275209	0.086857989	0.08845867	0.14359	0.141651538	0.123763818	0.130362513	0.108696
Verbial Shipes 4	0.079603903	0.096060854	0.085209171	0.0745633	0.078262792	0.07970507	0.12938	0.127634142	0.111516535	0.117462244	0.09794
Vertrai 1/rijes 8	0.080708892	0.097394283	0.086391967	0.075598218	0.079349365	0.08081147	0.13118	0.139405843	0.113064506	0.119092748	0.099299
	-						_				
Max 2-12 Matrix	date .	External Brace	Front Supports Uniform Watth 3	Honoontal Stripes 2	Horizonte Stripes é	Horizontal Strip	Horidontal S	Top Thick	Vertical Stripes 4	Vertical Stripes &	
Rece	1	0.656200698	0.839906893	1.02250097	1.016681754	1.00116384	0.85537	0.809957326	0.895241174	0.888315867	
External Brace	1.529924011	0.78117777	1.27995428	1.558213779	1.549345735	1.52569762	1.30352	1.234313436	1.364279521	1.353421094	
mont supports uniform Writte	1.19060816	0.781277906	0.001404000	1.217397998	1.210469592	0.0729384	1.01841	0.964341801	1.060681447	0.86857397998	
Horizonta Scipili 2	0.9875934182	0.645411211	0.821424055	1.005233234	0.39430884	0.98473674	0.84114	0.792130553	0.880553033	0.8080/2131	
Incritantia Strong B	0.99881251	0.655417871	0.838030500	1.021312223	1.015499975	1.0000000015	0.85479	0.809015758	0.894203665	0.883083441	
Inscisonial Striper & Draviet	1.169080519	0.767151458	0.981918796	1.095385964	1.168583833	1.17044115	1	0.946905331	1.046609016	1.038278954	
Top Thus	1.234632947	0.810167002	1.036976722	1.262413380	1.255228789	1.23606987	1.05607	1	1.505294249	1.09649711	
Vertical Shipes 4	1.117017435	0.732987621	0.938190643	1.542151411	1.135651244	1.11831747	0.95547	0.904736454	1	0.992040908	
Vertical Dripes 8	1.125979207	0.738868342	0.945717697	1.555354832	1.144762515	1.12728967	0.96113	0.911995108	1.008022948	5	
1.m	11.32166593	7.429285091	9.509145353	11.5764144	11.51053337	11.3348426	9.68425	9.170066263	10.1356215	10.05495556	
Max Average 2-12	Base	External Brace	Front Supports Uniform Watth	Honisonial Stripes 2	Horizontal Stripes 4	workental Strips	Monophie 1	Fop Thick	Vertical Stripes 4	Vertice Stripes 8	Average
Anne	0.074289082	0.083109239	0.065044567	0.070154876	0.073793768	0.07465306	0.11427	0.114731701	0.099834194	0.105768159	0.087565
External Brace	0.113210916	0.126652165	0.099122977	0.1069107	0.112456095	0.1137656	0.17414	0.174842393	0.152139725	0.161182637	0.133443
Front Supports Liniform Width	0.088449187	0.098950538	0.077442592	0.083526968	0.087858462	0.08888255	0.13606	0.136600499	0.118863406	0.125928433	0.104256
Horzontal Stripen 2	0.07265429	0.081280352	0.063613208	0.068611061	0.072169876	0.07301026	0.11176	0.112206936	0.097637261	0.103440644	0.085638
Horborital Stripes 4	0.073070144	0.081745579	0.063977313	0.069003771	0.072582957	0.07342815	0.1124	0.112849178	0.09819611	0.104032711	0.086128
monocrite Stripes 8	0.074202722	0.083012625	0.064968953	0.070073322	0.073707984	0.07456628	0.11414	0.114598326	0.099718137	0.105645205	0.087463
Hardonice Stripes & Uneven	0.085849919	0.097161392	0.076042336	0.082015699	0.086370857	0.06727544	0.1336	0.134130596	0.558/14/11	0.123603494	0.107173
Contract Manager &	0.0820610	0.002834440	0.080306365	0.02836423	0.081418011	0.08338513	0.12765	0.126163538	0.111514536	0.118364834	0.007711
Vertical Internet	0.083442062	0.091520275	0.07123443	0.0289039421	0.061090014	0.08405.78	0.12867	0.1201815733	0.112411276	0.119002324	0.004501
the sub-strate strate s	0.0010011002	2010111111	9.07 17 1903	ware weeks	5.561040/49	10.0000.078	0.1100/	9.129183909	Starfine/9	2.112/10/148	a series (
	Ste 1	Matria 2-12	Max 2-12				5	AHP Standardined Pub-	stress Score		
lana .	0.074289082	0.091400696	0.087565235		Site 1	0.07395382	1	Lang	0.08203		
External Brace	0.126652165	0.129129375	0.133442749		Average 2-12	0.11760462		Edwina Brace	0.13243		
Front Supports Undarm Water.	0.077442592	0.08901279	0.104255872		Max 2-12	0.80844156		Front Supports Lindow wath	0.10048		
Horzontal Stripes 2	0.068611061	0.090121512	0.085638281				13	Honoontal Shipes 2	0.08491		
Horizontal Stripes 4	0.072582957	0.090831857	0.086128452					Horooma Stripes 4	0.08%68		
instruction Stripes 8	0.07456628	0.091625297	0.087463433					Horocoma Respect	0.08700		
Horbordal Stripes 4 Unavien	0.133595043	0.10113101	0.102370799					Insrist-the Stripes 4 Uneven	0.30453		
70p 7%4	0.141651538	0.108695936	0.108110912					Tuy Thick	0.11066		
Vertrai Shipes 4	0.111516535	0.097939724	0.097811883					Vertical Stripes 4	0.09884		

### 3. AHP Short Term

			Qualities				Short Term Qualities Mandarifued				
R-D-client	Robustness	Cost	Sustainability	Implementation Yang		and the second	Robustiens	Cost	Sumanability	Autom Time	Asrap
Canit	0.3424571			0.5		Cest	0.096253275	0.098590348	0.214345438	0.0746268	0.547415
Sustainability Insulancestation Time	0.51121121	0.5428571	1	8.20		histanubility	0.076458254	0.014084507	0.045454545	0.1492512	0.572936
operation inter		-		-		to prove taking t	2 (17 (04) (17)	6,170 16,000	a an area of	- 1411-11-	C.L.O.B.L
Ridayahesa	that .	Conce Bred	Front Supports collarer pratts	Nonisuma Strate 2	Normanital Simple A	nanora linga I	and a second second second	ing Projet	Lantua Grappi A	Sector Bride	*
Enternal Brissa	1.5254288	0.0171948	1.118002891	1.151758045	1.545675808	1.52232768	1.366896213	1.316/561/3	1.108055539	1.3017512	
hurt luppers under wats	1.1544882	0.7587257	1	3.14140536	1.172742903	1.134952665	0.961253601	0.908007546	1.014190790	1,002947	
runantal Impect	0.9755479	0.6413251	0.845054707	1.009110846	0.990973509	0.975944681	0.813220088	0.79426260	0.81902405	0.8031309	1
Names of Column 2	0.9995935	0.4568277	0.865852587	1.02464824	1.03.00105	1	0.832291254	0.796162523	0.880197435	0.86829176	
Hard State Strate & Lowers	1.1154527	0.7893344	1.040344993	1.201170648	1.2299055158	1.205554446	1.058623088	6.944640305	1.057605343	2.0433068	1
Vertical Dirights &	1.1356469	0.7463423	0.98367997	1.164111822	1.11.0601765	1.136336741	0.90333468	0.8103388835	1	0.9864805	
vertice (mpace)	1.3162162	0.7545458	0.45716111	1.180065769	1.565415674	1.010620011	0.958490824	0.905429831	1.01.004834		
Standardized Robustnasa	last	Discouránea	Front bogging preligion and the	representation parts	NOTION TO BE A	runiorty thise 8	Name of Street and Street	ing Prode	vetos ittoria	Telefogr Hirtse	A.4.44
(max	0.0877573	0.0877573	0.087757326	0.087757326	0.087757326	0.087757328	0.08775.7126	0.087757528	0.067757326	0.08775.79	0.047/97
Forthquels prime mills	0.1003148	0.5052148	0.305154796	0.101500194	0.3125301294	0.101114796	0.101034796	0.100533394	0.000304796	0.1011048	0.505315
Nortorial Stripe 3	0.0854115	0.0854115	0.08961148	0.08541148	0.08561348	0.08060348	0.06561348	0.08563348	0.08161148	0.0014033	0.285611
management of the part of the second se	0.06077257	0.0677357	0.088395455	0.086293455	0.086395455 0.06771/5452	0.0003720455	0.0807723652	0.086395453	0.086392455	0.0800935	0.086390
receiptal (hips: 4 preser	0.1054023	0.5054021	0.325402341	0.305402341	0.3054023412	0.305402343	0.101403141	0.105402.141	0.305402.041	0.1014023	0.505400
Tag Their	0.11112943	0.1115793	0.110379044	0.113579244	0.111/12/02/04	0.313579344	0.1111379244	0.113379344	0.11375264	0.1115792	0.111579
pertura (strate it	0.9000272	0.5000272	0.305027176	0.1010027176	0.303027176	0.505027176	9.1010271.76	0.305027176	0.505027176	0.5050372	0.500027
fana	1	1.57	A REAL PROPERTY LINES IN THE REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY AND	1	1	S and a second second	1	1.52	10000		í
Live tree	0.6367427	3	0.636942675	0.000942675	0.636942625	0.636942675	0.636942675	0.840764333	0.840764301	0.4309427	
mont laggering professionalette	1	1.57	1	1			1	1.10	1		
insecurity bright A	1 A	1.57	1	î		i.	3	5.82	1		
monitor fair Simples &	1	1.57	1	1	1		1	5.32			
The Texa	0.7575758	1.140300	0.7575758	0.75757576	0.7575756	0.75757578	6.555.556	1	0.55555	1.7575.76	
terital triper 4	1	1.5803009	1	3	1	- 1	1	1.30	1	1	
Tertas intensis.	9.000184	14.368788	9,394018403	9.2942554433	9.994318433	9.394018403	9.094558423	12,40076433	9.508340089	1.1945184	
Standardized Cost	Case .	Energy lines	Front Supports collapse plates	noneontal templa 2	horizonta Strojaci 4	incrimentar iterpan &	reception the pair & Grant	log Phila	intialityes.4	Inclusive par	hange
Date of the local date of the	0.0877575	0.30964/1	0.303354796	0.08561348	0.086293455	0.007725052	0.105402341	0.547284603	0.099661305	0.5050272	0.511582
Front Supports (where watth	0.0677573	6.3096471	0.305154796	0.08541148	0.086395455	0.067725652	0.305402341	0.547284603	0.099665335	6.5050272	0.111582
menorinal brights 2	0.0677573	0.3096473	0.303354796	0.08561148	0.086390455	0.067735452	0.505403341	0.547284003	0.099641315	6.58550272	0.511382
manipulat Singler &	0.0677573	0.3096471	0.301314796	0.00041148	0.086393455	0.067725652	0.105403341	0.147384003	0.099640105	0.1010272	0.111382
reprised to part 4 streams	0.0677573	0.2096471	0.305334796	0.00563348	0.086295455	0.087725452	0.105402341	0.347284903	0.009663335	0.1010072	0.111542
Tap This	0.0664828	0.1148236	0.076753633	0.064857181	0.0654480/2	0.066455797	0.079850258	0.313379344	0.015503053	0.0765357	0.084039
Terrise Report	6.0677575	0.3096471	0.1013164796	0.08563348	0.086193455	0.067725652	0.105402341	0.547254603	0.009461135	0.10100072	0.111142
Sustainability	Pres .	Discus Risca	Front Supports control matter	representation (trupies )	ACCOUNTS TOTAL F	Paral Street	second in part of the	ty this	Inclusion of	10110 1110	
Low-se the se	0.2	- 1	6.8	0.2	0.2	0.7	4.2	0.25	6.2	83	
For balance setting and	1			1	1		1		1	1	
representation property	- 1			1	- 1		-				
renerated to pay \$	1	5	1	i	1		1	1			
viccionial Brijan & Granam	1	- 1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	
Terftig Triper #	1	- 5	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	
retaining at	1	. 5	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	
Number fried bookers addition	6.5101101	45	4530151151	# 531101014	#.531151150	8.510110110	4.531501311	0.0	8.5000000	45115015	
Inia	0.0677573	0.667666	0.305354796	0.04563548	0.086193453	0.067725652	0.305402941	0.31473/730	0.009661135	9.1010272	0.175729
Lista bias	0.0175355	0.1399303	0.020362955	0.05712/299	0.0173798293	0.00754430	0.0/3080488	0.02789480.2	0.019902367	0.0202654	0.011241
management and the second seco	6.0677575	0.067866	0.305384796	0.06541348	0.086203455	0.067725652	0.505402041	0.334757758	0.099643105	4.5056272	0.175726
Harlaumat Striper. 4	0.0677573	0.667666	0.305354796	0.00561148	0.046195455	0.067725152	0.105403341	0.334737733	0.099661535	0.3030272	0.175729
managential (Imparc 8)	0.0877573	0.067566	0.201314796	0.08561148	0.086390455	0.067170453	0.105402341	0.334707703	0.009661305	0.5055272	0.175.739
Tig Test	0.629(2524	0.5141109	0.003772389	5.02853736	0.026767152	0.029340555	0.005134234	0.111579344	0.033221445	6.0336757	0.089734
Variat Striper 8	0.0877573	0.667966	0.301314796	0.06561148	0.089393455	0.087730652	0.105402041	0.334792793	0.099661335	0.5050272	0.175739
and a second second	0.060935	9.057948	0.10110/096		0.086393455	0.067020602	0.102903341	9.19(19/19)	0.09966(10)	-3. 50/102/12	01/01/0
Implementation Taxe	10.04	Crimital Base	Fort happens collect water	nanounia temperati	horizonta Sirgan A	increasing Stripper 4	service of the pair of some	taj Photo	vertice (Import	Samuelloga	
Rend Libertal Rends	1					3	-				
Front Supports underer anges	0.0	0.1101101	1	8.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	65	
management at litting and 3	0.33333333	0.5		1			1	1			
mensionful forgan &	0.33333333	0.5	3	1	- 1		1	-	1		
no-contactingan A Unaven	0.33333322	0.5	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Top Treat. Institute Stream 4	0.31031333	0.5	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
tertial tripe 8	6.1331333	0.5		1			1				
Sum Anaple Koof In Alice	4.0831333	6.8101101	22	12.5	115	32.5	12.5	33.5	32.5	13.5	-
heat	0.0677573	0.2170664	0.405/359184	0.256834439	0.359174366	0.34104496	0.116.207022	0.334737733	0.298984336	6.3030815	6.279227
Donte lines	0.0434767	0.1305303	0.101944188	0.173222959	0.172780913	0.175443304	0.210804682	0.227258489	0.199322473	6.20265A	0.145615
Ford Subjects Unders with region at large 1	0.0259993	0.0445111	0.301314796	0.04380574	0.040395728	0.0403800826	0.05270117	0.055799622	0.040830668	0.0505136	0.050646
management and the speech of	0.0292524	0.066.7666	0.302629592	0.00561148	0.086399455	8.067725452	0.105462041	6.111579244	0.099643305	0.5050212	0.017504
Nonconfer Striper I	0.6252524	0.0667668	0.302429583	0.00541148	0.066290455	0.087725652	0.105402341	0.312575244	0.099665325	0.5050212	0.297604
Top Took	0.0292524	6.065766	0.303629583	0.06961348	0.006203455	0.087731662	0.305403041	0.111379344	0.099661305	0.1010272	0.097506
ractus strawnik	0.829,7524	0.0467466	0.302629962	0.08561548	0.086290455	0.067725652	0.30540/341	0.315579244	0.099643305	0.1010072	0.297004
retur 2 (per l	0.8290324	0.0667666	Corregators 0	0.08541148	0.086390455	0.087735652	0.305402341	0.111579344	0.00%641305	0.1010272	0.297404
	Awage			Rothundharia	Dell	Sustainability	Implementation Time		Manderstand Mork Term Solut	tion house	1
Cost	0.3474234		one-state	0.132532194	0.072847828	0.033346552	0.183654561		Colored Brand	0.12425	
Implementation Time	0.0454528		Provide Supports confirms property	0.301354796	0.111180908	0.175729126	0.05064625.8		more Supporte profese autore	0.000.00	
			Particular Street B	0.086293455	0.115180908	0.175729126	0.05/504321		-ortional Dripes A	0.00174	
			forsyste (inpes)	0.087723652	0.111181908	0.171729126	0.007604311		formering braze &	0.00000	
			Tarthol	0.112575244	0.084228731	0.089734121	0.067604301		Tay Tusk	0.30414	
			Carries Wright 4	0.099661335	0.306099174	0.175729126	0.097954301		invitual langes &	0.30340	
			Terring Division I	9.3010027178	0.111180928	0.175729126	0.097604111		Carried Contractor	0.20100	

# 4. AHP Long Term

			Charlen .					The short from the state	No. 1 and Taxas		
	Robustness	Cost	Sustainability	Implementation Value			Robustness	Cost	Suspinability	implementation P	Autompt
Relatives	1	1.0	14			S.D.shen	0.861264019	0.87804878	0.817309302	0.815115115	0.02404
Cent	0.000004			1		Cent	0.04784489	0.048780488	6.05003056	0.041004067	6.00.000
Sumanability	0.0557556	0.5				Installability.	1.0(76488	0.034040344	0.546511639	0.000333333	0.000525
Implementation Time	0.05	1	0.5	1	14	and the second second	0.0418063203	0.048780488	0.0210753414	0.043464682	0.08030
	-										
Relayings	Pres .	Daniel Bred	From Supports Collarer Math.	management (Response)	THE PARTY OF THE P	namental litrate-1	monantia Brigan Junatan	Top Plant	Version Western A	intra lingue il	1
ducia .	1	0.5573548	0.866184609	1.02506-4939	1.015450253	1.000406675	0.8303903723	0.786502343	0.88/715539	0.868550685	1
Libral bias	1.5256288	. 1	1.118002801	1.519/58045	1.545625408	1.52232568	1.366896213	1.196796573	1.1398869623	1.011795942	1
Post lupports profess stats	1.1544882	0.7587231	1	3.18342536	1.172740903	1.034052665	0.961219601	0.006007546	3.034590293	3.002846952	-
runoinal Impec.2	0.9755479	0.6411251	0.845004707	1	0.990972509	0.975944683	0.812215088	0.767270435	0.839024305	0.847430395	4
Providential Brighton &	0.5844358	0.6469661	0.812703246	1.009110846	3	0.984836367	0.819605074	0.734260982	0.804/02/09	0.8110.80810	
terrore imperial	0.99999835	0.4568277	0.865852587	1.02464824	1.0580335	1	0.812275254	6.786582522	0.880097435	0.86825757	-
representat Stripel-4 unaven	1.201004	0.7893344	5.0403449938	1.221170648	1.229055158	1.205554446	1	0.9446433355	1.057605045	1.043306806	(
The Thick	1.1754522	0.83559158	1.101313403	1.101121003	5,2915540.7	1.371/988255	1.058603018	. t	1.11004079	1.104447817	-
Vertical Shipes X	1.1356469	0.2463403	0.96367997	1.164111802	1.153601765	1.136336745	0.9455.02468	0.890088830	4	D NM/ROUTI	(
vertual Stripes 8	1.3562562	0.7545658	0.49716153	3.180085798	1.56541.5674	1.111620911	0.958490824	0.905429818	1.013206834		4
Burt.	11.19508	7.4887193	9.870220606	33.6606.5953	15.5/523883	11.39960413	9,48,400,303	8.1962240385	30.01748754	3.898336718	· · · · ·
Standardiand Robustnatus	No.4	COCH PRO	First hopping pully in might	reprinting the pair (	Annual Street &	raminents throw 8	instructor by part 4 (character	hog their	vertical through 1	vertical longies 4	1.0.00
(and the second s	0.0877973	0.0677573	0.087757326	0.087757326	0.087757326	0.187757328	0.087757520	0.087757338	6.067757529	0.087757338	0.087752
toena baa	0.1336333	0.1105100	0.137553194	0.130533194	0.532533294	0.1305333994	0.130530194	0.110510194	0.535533994	0.53530294	ALL USE
Ford happen's codew mills	0.0003148	0.5053148	0.301314796	0.301354796	0.200314796	0.000334796	0.303354796	0.101314/96	0.101314796	0.501.814.996	0.505315
monountar Simples 3	0.0654135	0.0804133	0.08961148	0.08561148	0.08941148	0.08565348	0.08563148	0.08561548	0.08561348	0.06541548	D.DENIS
international property	0.0007005	0.0003103	0.086395453	0.080391455	0.086395455	0.040190405	0.086393455	0.0000795455	0.080095455	0.000000000	Summer and
which and a state of	0.0677257	0.0077257	0.08/7729654	0.067723952	0.0877729652	0.067712452	0.067723652	0.087711852	0.087731452	0.047721452	a second
Horizontal (Inigen & University	0.1054021	0.0094003	0.325403.943	0.305401341	0.305400.941	0.305400.943	0.305401941	8.509402.MS	0.505402345	0.009402341	0.30540
THE THE	0.1111740	0.1115790	0.115574044	9.1135-9294	0.110524244	0.111579.044	0.1101/12/04	0.000001200	0.010579248	0.011579244	a man
Concerning star from the	0.0000000	0.0000000	0.000003303	0.000001035	0.0000001105	0.0000001100	0.000000110	0.099661335	0.0990001335	0.0000001110	C. Contractor
Perfus Vogen 8	0.30000772	0.900007/1	0.102027176	9.10000/176	0.30002/176	0.30201/174	9.305007176	0.502017174	0.100007/176	6.3030171 W	O STORE
	_										
Card	Pinet	Direction of the	Fort baserie collere paint	managerial brights 2	Heritaria Shiper P	records thipsoil	Second Subscription	Top then	Verbol Brigan 4	renoa tenpera	-
Euros	10000	151				A contractor		5.94			s
the sea	COMPANY.		0.63694(675	0.600908/5	0.00940875	0.836942675	0.696940675	6.840764315	0.840764330	11000000	1
and append polyre main	1 3	1.57		1			-	1.12			1
and the second s		1.53						1.12			1
and the second s	1 3			1				1.10		-	
And and a strate of	- 3	1.57		1				1.32		-	1
The State	A N N P	1.100	A 10 10 10 10		A DOWNERS	0.00 mm		1.12	0.0000000	0.0000000	1
and the local division of	10000	1.120.000	0.00000	100008	a contraction	annonana.	a manana		eann be	=1300.04	1
		1.10						1.12			1
and a second second	1	10.10000	a shering the	9.00000000	St. Marrison of the	B. West Law 1	a management	12 4000 410	a sealarter	B. Manual and	1
Mandauff and Cost	Comments.	Long and Long	Environments	Contraction in the second second	P.1940104400			Section Proc	Cardon Robert A	a second	
Statement and the Cold	0.0810.11	6 NINGARY	A 100 Harris	A CONTRACTOR	in case and and	D. DELTTYLES, 2	0.555401541	E M Change	A research in	a same of the	0.111.04
Internet Real	0.0007075	0.2000471	0.00010171	0.054120425	0.000000400	D DISATISTICS	0.007135388	0.7000011040	0.081781000	0.0641481.2	0.517340
for the second second second	O DETEND	0.3066473	0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.0000000000	0.0000000000	O DETTINGS	0.000403340	0.147784000	0.000041335	0.000030000	La Li Li La
manufacture 1	D DETECTS	A DOMAGE T	0.307334256	0.00501148	0.0403403455	A DATTINGST	0.505402540	0.547080000	0.000041205	E MARTINE	LA STATE
manufacture de la companya	0.00775.73	0.3006471	0.101114.00	0.08547148	0.080390455	A DEPTTOAL	0.305403.547	0.547384603	0.000001110	a noncervie	a ture
minimum del la compañía	0.0677573	0.3066471	0.305414796	2.08541108	0.000.000455	0.062725453	0.10540.041	0.047284000	0.00041335	6.505527576	a villa
reprint to the second	0.0677573	0.3096471	0.101114796	0.005421148	0.066293455	0.067710652	0.305402341	0.147284003	0.000041335	0.000027176	a stress
The Date	0.0004828	0.11882106	0.03/25/00/1	0.064857181	0.0654480772	0.064455.797	0.079656758	0.0115/00344	D. NPIAGADE 2	0.00030516	0.04473
Sector Science &	0.0677573	D. STARZIN	0.101314798	COMMITTEE	0.084293455	0.062710453	0.305403341	0.14728600	0.0004110	0.505017176	0.1001
terms in the l	0.0477575	0.3066473	0.101214796	0.0054114E	0.046390455	0.042720452	0.555402341	0.547284003	0.000641335	0.101027378	a muse
14-14-1-14-1	1 4 14 1 1 1 1			1.000011-0					1.177411712		Leanse.
Sumainability.	land 1	Defected Roots	Party & Society on States and States	monthly builder 1	annual femiles &	successive bit same it	And the local division of the local	his fluid	international designation of the local designa	and a local de la constant	1
here and her	- 1		1	1	1		1		1	1	1
length has			0.1	87	0.2	0.7	62	8.15	0.2		1
Intel States in Configure and	1			1							1
managed interval	1			1							1
menoused for sec. 2				1							1
manual at the state											-
statute lines & search											1
Tax Data	6.03000		0.0000000	4.101101010	0.1101011111	0.110100101	0.10110100	1	0.311311111	0.000000000	2
Technik Witten #	1		1	1	1				1	1	1
continue de la contraction de	1			1						1	1
but	4.5101011	45	8.530303403	# 5333311111	8.531131313	4.510110101	# 531301301	25.25	8.518110103	6.5110101010	1
Mandardued Sudamaking	They .	fathering Brack	Fort lagerly other path	managerine (strates )	manufacturing Directory, 8	manufacture a	Increasing Division & Linearet	Top Prod	Verburg Street 4	And in the second second	ALC: NO
Inia	0.0427575	0.667866	0.305214256	S. OFFICE LOD	0.0603001455	0.0427354632	0 MMAD3M1	6.314712710	0.000641325	6.525327176	0.575726
Lines has	0.04 70345	0.1105103	0.000002955	0.057121296	0.017778201	0.01754410	0.071080408	0.027094011	0.000000000	0.0000410	0.010.041
front laugests underer states	0.00775.73	0.66.7644	0.305314796	0.08541148	0.086.201410	0.087725463	0.30540/341	0.314712713	6.099641315	IL SCHOLTTER	0.175.120
managerial Screen F	0.06779.71	0.047544	0.301314796	0.08541148	0.085201410	0.067725453	0 105400441	6 MATERIA	0.000041135	IL STRATTON	0.SPATH
Personal Street &	0.06775.75	0.667664	0.305354794	0.00561348	0.086293455	0.047721452	0.10540/341	0.334732730	0.000041115	0.505621278	DIMIN
Nanisarial Inform 8	0.08775/1	0.667564	0.202114/786	0.08141348	0.086350455	0.087121653	0.305402.WI	0.004712710	0.049661315	0.000027278	0.175.725
manipulated intrast 4 sciences	0.0677573	0.467648	0.101114796	0.08MI148	0.080300455	0.067120452	0.105403341	0.114712713	0.009441335	8.505037576	0.57529
Top True	0.629/524	0.5141108	0.0007775949	\$ 0.0053706	0.0262907152	0.529340551	0.005134134	0.111579044	0.0110239445	0.033675725	6.049734
contract Stripers &	0.0627575	0.667666	0.301314796	0.06541148	0.089/2012455	0.0877310452	0.305402343	0.336737733	0.099661335	0.505027176	0.17073
Vertial Bright B	0.0877575	0.067546	0.303114796	0.08561148	0.0663993455	6.087720453	0.10540/341	6.536737755	6.099661335	6.505037176	0.175.720
	-										S
Implementation Taxe	inter .	Oracitation and Annual	From Supports and Soft House	meteorial temper (	Interiority Stripes #	inscionter Shipe-B	Instructed Property United	TopThia	Vertrai brigan 4	A require an end	
lans	1	3				3					
Edwine Brook	0.5		1		2	2		2	2	2	
Print Supports under write	6,6	0.3303303	1	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	6.5		0.5	1
Harsonial Internal	0.3101103	0.5		1	1		1		1	1	-
mentanital bitrate &	6.3131133	0.5	3	-1	1	3	-1		1	1	-
mentionful Striper-B	0.33033033	0.5	3	1	1				1	1	
Increased Stream A creation	0.3103337	0.5	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Yop Treat	6.33333333	0.5	2	1	1		- 1		1		()
herical impacts	0.3103333	0.5	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	()
tertial tripect	6.13333333	0.5									
Sun	4.06311331	6.8131133	23	12.5		34.5	12.5	113	13.5	12.5	
Standardined implementation	abor	Criscian Brack	Front Trappents Lattices Houth	management of the speed of	receipted to be a de-	records three 4	improved to part thematic	Tog Thick	varioù tripe 4	rentice (mapping)	Acres 1
here	0.0677573	0.2970664	0.405359184	0.256834439	0.250174366	0.263364956	0.314.30.1003	6.334737733	0.258984306	0.3030815.29	0.279031
Distantian in the second second	0.0404747	0.1305302	0.003944388	0.173222959	0.172782961	0.175443304	0.230904682	0.225158489	0.599022673	0.20054033	0.545625
For Baser's other sign-	0.0129999	0.0445111	0.305304796	0.04260574	0.040295728	0.040860826	0.05270117	0.055789622	0.049530648	6.050513588	0.2506-4
monitorential timipaen 3	0.025/21.24	0.0667666	0.302629583	0.08561348	0.086399455	0.087725454	0.305403343	0.333576246	0.099641335	0.309037576	0.297604
monomital Street 4	6.829(2524	0.0667666	0.202429942	0.08561548	0.086395455	6.067725452	0.305402343	8.515579244	0.099661335	6.505527176	6.047604
Name of Contract o	0.6252524	0.0667668	0.202429953	8:08543348	0.085290455	0.087725652	0.305402341	8.511579244	0.099661335	8.500627574	0.047904
NUMBER OF BRIDE AND ADDRESS OF BRIDE ADD	0.025/3324	0.0687966	0.303629563	0.08561148	0.086/992455	0.087720452	0.305402341	8.111579244	0.099641335	0.500027579	0.01740
Top Prok	0.0292524	0.0667668	0.303629583	0.06561348	0.086293455	0.087735452	0.505403341	0.1115/9044	0.099641335	8.505527576	0.397604
sector straw i	0.8252524	0.0467466	0.202629902	0.08561548	0.085290455	0.067725652	0.305402343	0.513579244	0.099661335	0.505627176	0.017504
Contract Distance in	0.629,024	0.0667666	0.300629560	0.08543348	0.0812903455	0.087725452	0.30540/1941	0.511579344	0.099682335	0.000027579	0.01760
				1				1			1
	Average	100		Rubushese	Elent .	Summerselling	Implementation Time		Vanderstand Arth	ang Tarm	
Auburners	0.8524589	1	line .	0.087757326	0.111180908	0.575729136	0.3793296605		tow .	6.10000044	
Sustainability	0.0101205		From Laporty collares plate	0.303304796	0.11118/1928	0.175729126	0.050646253		Ford Supports underwarding	0.5004/59090	
Implementation Time	6.0991951		Noncortal Singer, 2	0.08161348	0.111180926	0.175729126	0.057604303		increased increased	0.04011.000	
	1		International Difference	0.086293455	0.111180708	0.175729126	0.007664321	1	Name of a local strength	B.MOUTPACK	
			remontal lingua di	0.087723852	0.111180928	0.375729126	0.09/1001012		Purioria Drgas B	0.00011440	
		1	Internet Street Property	0.105402341	0.11116/0008	0.175729128	0.007604222		mendontal Bright A United	0.100063900	1
			Tig Thick	0.112579244	0.084228725	0.089734323	0.097904333		14740	0.306346265	
			Carried Wright of	0.099661305	0.3266099574	0.175729126	0.007604301		rented brym.4	0.100796022	1
			and the second se	a company and	and the second second	the second second second				of the local division of the local divisiono	